
Planning Commission 
Llanira Valencia, Vice Chair 

Sherry Brott, Commissioner 
Keith Corum, Commissioner 

Cristina Ocampo, Commissioner 
Robyn Nygard, Commissioner 

City Planner 
Delainie Garlick 

City Clerk 
Karleen Price 

Willows Planning 
Commission Meeting 
July 1, 2025 
Willows City Hall 
6:00 PM  

201 North Lassen Street 
Willows, CA 95988 

(530) 934-7041
Agenda

Watch online via Zoom: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87375526031 
Remote viewing of the Planning Commission meeting for members of the public is provided for convenience 
only. In the event that the remote viewing connection malfunctions for any reason, the Planning Commission 
reserves the right to conduct the meeting without remote viewing. 

If you have documents you would like to submit to the Planning Commission, please deliver or mail them to the 
City Planner at 201 North Lassen Street, Willows, CA 95988 or email it to: planning@cityofwillows.org .  

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

3. ROLL CALL

4. CHANGES TO THE AGENDA

5. PUBLIC COMMENT & CONSENT CALENDAR FORUM
All items on the Consent Calendar are considered routine and may be approved with a single vote unless
removed for separate discussion by the Chair and Commissioners. Individuals wishing to speak on Consent items
or matters not on the agenda are asked to complete a Speaker Card and submit it to the City Clerk. All remarks
shall be directed to the Chair and Councilmembers and are limited to three minutes. By law, the Council cannot
discuss or take action on items not listed on the posted agenda.

a. Minutes Approval
Recommended Action: Approve minutes of the June 3, 2025 Planning Commission Meeting.
Contact: Karleen Price, City Clerk, kprice@cityofwillows.org

6. PUBLIC HEARING
All matters in this section of the agenda are formal public hearings and will be acted on individually. Individuals
wishing to speak on these items are asked to complete a Speaker Card and submit it to the City Clerk. Comments
should be directed to the Chair and Commissioners and are limited to three minutes.  If you have any
documentation that you would like distributed to the Council, please give it to the City Clerk for distribution.

a. Cali Love LLC/Conditional Use Permit (File# CUP-25-01)/157 N. Butte St
Recommended Action: Receive the staff report, attachments, discuss, and upon conclusion,
consider approving the request for a Conditional Use Permit and adopting the attached
resolution.

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87375526031
mailto:planning@cityofwillows.org
mailto:kprice@cityofwillows.org


WILLOWS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 2 

Contact: planning@cityofwillows.org 

b. WWCRS, Inc./Conditional Use Permit (File# CUP 25-02)/130 N. Butte St
Recommended Action: Receive the staff report, attachments, discuss, and upon 
conclusion, consider approving the request for a Conditional Use Permit and adopting the 
attached resolution.
Contact: planning@cityofwillows.org

c. Ionna EV/Design Review (File# DR-25-04)/246 N Humboldt Ave
Recommended Action: Receive the staff report, attachments, discuss, and upon 
conclusion, consider approving the Design Review request and adopting the attached 
resolution.
Contact: planning@cityofwillows.org

7. DISCUSSION & ACTION CALENDAR
All matters on the Discussion & Action calendar will be discussed and acted on individually. Individuals wishing 
to speak on these items are asked to complete a Speaker Card and submit it to the City Clerk. Comments should 
be directed to the Chair and Commissioners and are limited to three minutes. By law, the Council cannot discuss 
or take action on items not listed on the posted agenda.

a. Election of Chair and Vice Chair
Recommended Action: Accept nominations and elect a Chair and Vice Chair to preside over the 
Planning Commission for the 2025 calendar year.
Contact: Karleen Price, City Clerk, kprice@cityofwillows.org

8. COMMENTS & REPORTS
a. Commission Comments & Reports
b. Staff Comments & Reports

9. ADJOURNMENT

This agenda was posted on June 27, 2025. 

______________________________ 
Karleen Price, City Clerk 

A complete agenda packet, including staff reports and back-up information, is available for public inspection during normal work hours at City Hall 
or the Willows Public Library at 201 North Lassen Street in Willows or on the City’s website at www.cityofwillows.org. 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, the City of Willows will make available to members of the public any special assistance 
necessary to participate in this meeting.  If requested, the agenda shall be made available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with a 

disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132). The public should contact the City Clerk’s 
office at 934-7041 to make such a request.  Notification 72 hours prior to the meeting will enable the City to make reasonable arrangements to 

ensure accessibility to this meeting. 

The City of Willows is an Equal Opportunity Provider  

mailto:planning@cityofwillows.org
mailto:planning@cityofwillows.org
http://www.cityofwillows.org/
Karleen Price
Cross-Out



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT & 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

FORUM 
 

3



 
Planning Commission  

Vacant, Chair 
Llanira Valencia, Vice Chair 

Sherry Brott, Commissioner  
Keith Corum, Commissioner 

Cristina Ocampo, Commissioner 
 

 
 

 

Willows Planning Commission 
Action Meeting Minutes 
June 3, 2025 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER– 6:01 PM 

 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
3. ROLL CALL 

Commissioners Present:  Vice Chair Valencia, Commissioners Brott, Corum and Ocampo 
Commissioners Absent: None 

 
4. CHANGES TO THE AGENDA  

 
5. PUBLIC COMMENT & CONSENT CALENDAR FORUM 

 

Public Comment: Open 6:03PM, Close 6:03PM 
 

a. Minutes Approval 
Action: Approved the minutes of the May 6, 2025, and May 20, 2025, Planning Commission 
Meetings. 

   

Moved/Seconded: Commissioner Corum /Commissioner Brott 
Yes: Vice Chair Valencia, Commissioners Brott, Corum and Ocampo 
No: None 
Absent: None 
Abstain: None 
 

6. DISCUSSION & ACTION CALENDAR 
 

a. Continued Item: Section 2 Review of Willows Municipal Code Title 18- Zoning  
Action: Council reviewed the Willows Municipal Code Title 18- Zoning, Section 2: Commercial, 
Industrial, and Special Districts, and provided feedback to staff. 
 

b. Section 3 Review of Willows Municipal Code Title 18- Zoning  
Action: Council reviewed the Willows Municipal Code Title 18- Zoning, Section 3: Regulations, 
Exceptions, and Review Process, and provided feedback to staff. 
 

7. COMMENTS & REPORTS 
 



  
WILLOWS PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES 2 

 

a. Commission Comments & Reports 
 

b. Staff Comments & Reports 
i. Staff informed the Commission of the resignation of Planning Commissioner Pedro 

Bobadilla and provided an update on the recruitment process to fill the vacant seat. 
ii. Staff advised the Commission of an upcoming Conditional Use Permit (CUP) application 

concerning retail cannabis dispensaries. An overview of the review and approval process 
was also presented. 
 

7. ADJOURNMENT – 8:19 PM 
 
_______________________________ 

             Karleen Price, City Clerk 



PUBLIC HEARING

8



Agenda Item #6a 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Date: 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

July 1, 2025  

Planning Commission 

Delanie Garlick, Harris & Associates 

Joe Bettencourt, Community Development & Service Director 

Cali Love LLC/ Conditional Use Permit (File# CUP 25-01)/157 N. Butte St 

Recommendation: 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission receive the staff report, attachments, discuss, and upon 
conclusion, consider approving the request for a Conditional Use Permit and adopting the attached 
resolution.  

Rationale for Recommendation: 
This matter is before the Planning Commission pursuant to City of Willows Municipal Code (WMC) 
Chapter 9.20, Cannabis. 

Background & Process: 
City of Willows Cannabis Ordinance was recently amended to allow cannabis retail/dispensary 
businesses in the Central Commercial, General Commercial, and Light Industrial Zones with approval of 
a Conditional Use Permit (CUP). Previously, Cannabis retail businesses were not permitted in these 
zones. In May 2024, the new amendments to the ordinance reduced the setback requirements from 
schools to 600 feet and removed all setback requirements from churches, licensed daycares, 
playgrounds, and parks.  

The application process for a retail/dispensary cannabis business license consists of three phases: 
a. Preliminary application intended to confirm the eligibility and suitability of the applicant(s), as

determined in the sole discretion of the City of Willows (referred to as phase one);
b. Review of significant information about the proposed site of the business, proposed operations,

security and other detailed business operations (referred to as phase two); and
c. Final consideration and approval or disapproval by City Council (referred to as phase three).

If the city manager determines that phase one of the application is complete, and there appears to be 
no basis for denial of the permit, the city manager shall notify the applicant that it may continue to phase 
two in the application process. When the city manager has notified the applicant that the phase two 
application is accepted, the applicant shall apply for a CUP to be reviewed and decided by the Planning 
Commission. Lastly, when the city manager determines that phase two is complete, including the 

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Willows/#!/Willows09/Willows0920.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Willows/#!/Willows09/Willows0920.html


issuance of a CUP, the application shall be placed on the next available meeting agenda of the City 
Council. 

On March 5, 2025, phase one of the application process for the applicant, Cali Love LLC, was deemed 
complete by City of Willows, and the applicant was given directions to proceed to phase two. Phase two 
of the application process includes the request for a CUP to meet Zoning Code Compliance as outlined 
in WMC 9.20.071(2, (a)viii)). The CUP includes the required findings as outlined in WMC 18.135.050 as 
well as the standards and conditions found in WMC 9.20.080. The general conditions for 
retail/dispensary cannabis licenses are incorporated into the Conditions of Approval (Attachment 2).  

Discussion & Analysis: 
The applicant, Cali Love LLC, is requesting a CUP as part of the phase two application process to operate 
a commercial retail cannabis dispensary in an existing 1,824 square foot building at 157 N. Butte Street, 
located within a Central Commercial zoning district. The Central Commercial district conditionally allows 
cannabis retail/dispensary business with a use permit pursuant to WMC Section 18.55.030(20) and 
pursuant to the development standards outlined in WMC Section 9.20.070 to 9.20.080, as defined in 
WMC Section 8.10.010.  

Table 1: Site Information 
Present Use & Development Vacant commercial tenant space within the existing commercial 

building. 
Access & Parking Direct access via Butte Street to the east. 

There is on-street parking along Butte Street, adjacent to the 
project site.  

Surrounding Use/Zoning North – Central Commercial (CG), commercial businesses.  
East – Central Commercial (CG), Butte Street then commercial 
businesses.  
West – Central Commercial (CG) and Residential/Professional (RP), 
commercial business then alley and residential single family. 
South – Central Commercial (CG), commercial businesses.  

Figure 1: Site and surrounding zoning 



The proposed location is within the appropriate zone district, Central Commercial, which conditionally 
allows a cannabis retail/dispensary. Additionally, the location of the business meets the setback 
regulations per Ordinance 760-2024, which took effect on February 12, 2025. The operator 
demonstrates compliance with the general provisions outline WMC 9.20.080 including but not limited 
to hours of operations, odor control measures, security measures, labeling and packaging, inspections, 
limits on sales, maintenance of licenses and insurance, and accounting of sales. 

The applicant provided all necessary application materials as detailed in the Cannabis Retail/Dispensary 
Phase Two Application Checklist including a detailed security plan, site plan, floor plan, accessibility 
evaluation, zoning code compliance, and demonstration of experience in the industry. The application 
materials demonstrate the applicant has met the provisions of the zoning compliance for a use permit 
to operate a cannabis retail/dispensary in the City of Willows (Attachment 3).  

Consistency Review: 
The proposed project is compatible with the surrounding existing and future land uses of the Central 
Commercial district, consistent with General Plan Policy LU-2a. The request for a CUP is consistent with 
policy LU-2f & LU-7a because it meets the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) and other applicable laws via categorical exemption 15301 (Existing Facilities). The proposed 
retail/dispensary will generate several full and part-time jobs in the Central Commercial district which 
meets the goals of policy LU 4.2 to support the continued development and intensification of 
employment opportunities throughout all non-residential areas. 

The proposed CUP for a cannabis retail/dispensary meets a number of the City Council’s 2024 priorities 
and goals. The council recognizes that new revenue is urgently needed to support essential services, 
infrastructure investments, and future development. This project meets Priority Goal #1 for financial 
stability by promoting investment and increased revenue through sales tax. The project also meets 
priority #2 for Economic Development as it is a new development within the city, it has the potential to 
contribute to economic growth. By creating jobs and attracting new businesses, the project can play a 

  Project Site  



significant role in contributing to the local economy through sales tax revenue and fostering a vibrant 
and diverse economy to help overcome economic stagnation and competition from other communities. 
Lastly, the proposed CUP is consistent with Priority #4 by encouraging community engagement as the 
project would offer an opportunity for public input and engagement, allowing residents to share their 
thoughts and concerns during a public hearing. Collaborating with local businesses and organizations can 
drive economic activity and foster a stronger sense of community. 

Environmental Review: 
The project is categorically exempt from the preparation of environmental documentation under the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Guidelines Section 15301 (Existing Facilities). 
The project is consistent with General Plan policies for the land use designation and is consistent with 
the applicable zoning designation and regulations. The project consists of the operation of a commercial 
business in an existing structure. The project site is not on a list of hazardous waste sites and does not 
contain a significant historical resource. The project site is an existing developed property served by 
required utilities and public services.  

Attachments: 
 Attachment 1: Resolution XX-2025
 Attachment 2: Conditions of Approval
 Attachment 3: Phase 2 Application Package



Attachment 1 

City of Willows  
Resolution XX-2025 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS GRANTING CONDITIONAL 
USE PERMIT APPROVAL OF A NEW RETAIL / DISPENSARY CANNABIS BUSINESS LICENSE (CUP 25-01) 

TO CALI LOVE WILLOWS, LLC FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 157 N BUTTE STREET, ASSESSORS 
PARCEL NUMBER 002-162-006 WITHIN THE CENTRAL COMMERCIAL ZONE 

WHEREAS, the applicant, CALI LOVE WILLOWS, LLC, has submitted an application for Conditional 
Use Permit approval to allow the operation of a new retail / dispensary cannabis business license; and  

WHEREAS, City of Willows Municipal Code Chapter 18.55.030 requires approval of a Conditional 
Use Permit for the operation of a cannabis retail / dispensary business; and   

WHEREAS, City of Willows Municipal Code Chapter 9.20.070 – 9.20.080 establishes processes 
and general conditions for retail / dispensary cannabis business licenses; and  

WHEREAS, notice of the Planning Commission meeting held on July 1, 2025, was published in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the City in accordance with law, and mailing to property owners 
within 300 feet were sent; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission did, on July 1, 2025, hold a public hearing to consider all 
public oral and written comments, letters and documents, staff reports, and all other documents and 
evidence which are a part of the Record; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission does find that the proposed project qualifies as a 
Categorical Exemption under Section 15301 (Class 1) pursuant to the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Willows Municipal Code Chapter 18.135.050, the following findings are 
made for the approval of a use permit:  

1) That the use is consistent with the purposes of the district in which the site is located.
Willows Municipal Code (WMC) Chapter 18.55.030(20) allows for cannabis retail /
dispensary business within the Central Commercial zone with approval of a conditional
use permit.

2) That the proposed location of the use and the conditions under which it may be operated
or maintained will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare or materially
injurious to properties or improvements in the vicinity.
The location of the cannabis retail / dispensary business would be in an existing
commercial building. Minor tenant improvements would be required. Conditions of
Approval outlined in WMC Chapter 9.20.080 including hours of operation, odor control
and security measures would be included in the project to ensure the business is operated



and maintained in a manner that is not detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare 
of those in the vicinity.  

3) That the proposed use is in conformance with the General Plan.
Commercial businesses are allowed within the land use designation of Central
Commercial.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission of the City of Willows does 
hereby find that the Conditional Use Permit to allow the operation of a retail / dispensary cannabis 
business license is consistent with the City of Willows Municipal Code and General Plan, and findings 
incorporated, and hereby approves Conditional Use Permit #CUP 25-01, subject to the attached 
conditions of approval. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Willows this 1st day of July 2025, by 
the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

APPROVED: ATTESTED: 

Llanira Valencia, Vice Chair  Karleen Price, City Clerk 



Attachment 2 

Conditions of Approval 
Conditional Use Permit (CUP 25-01)  

 For Retail / Dispensary Cannabis Business License 
157 N Butte Street /APN: 002-162-006 

Planning Commission Approval Date: July 1, 2025 

GENERAL 
(1) This Conditional Use Permit (CUP 25-01) allows for the operation of a cannabis retail / dispensary

business. “Dispensary” is defined as a retail establishment, facility, or location primarily engaged
in dispensing medical cannabis or medical cannabis products, holding an M-license issued by the
State of California. This definition excludes the lawful dispensing of medical cannabis by a primary
caregiver to a qualified patient in exempted settings, such as a private residence or licensed
healthcare facility, provided such dispensing complies fully with all applicable provisions of the
California Health and Safety Code, including but not limited to Sections 11362.5 et seq. Any future
proposal for dispensary-related use shall be subject to separate review and approval in
accordance with applicable zoning, licensing, and regulatory requirements.

(2) Prior to commencing business operations pursuant to a cannabis retail/dispensary business
license issued by the city of Willows, the applicant shall hold a certificate of authorization issued
by the City of Willows. Certificates of authorization shall be issued only to applicants who hold (a)
a retail/dispensary cannabis sales license issued by the City of Willows, (b) a use permit issued by
the city of Willows planning commission, and (c) California state-issued A-license and/or M-license

(3) Hours of Operation. All permitted retail/dispensary cannabis business premises shall be closed to
the general public and transporter deliveries and pick-ups shall be prohibited between the hours
of 7:00 p.m. and 8:00 a.m.

(4) Odor Control. Odors shall be contained on the property on which the commercial cannabis activity 
is located. If the city receives any odor complaints, the cannabis business shall work with the
building official or his designee to correct odor concerns. Unresolved or repeated odor complaints 
may be basis for suspension or revocation of the license or denial of license renewal.

(5) Minors. Licensees shall ensure that no person less than 21 years of age is permitted to work as an
employee, to purchase cannabis or cannabis products, or to be on the premises of the licensee at
any time.

(6) Business Conducted within Building. No production, distribution, storage, display or wholesale of
cannabis and cannabis-infused products shall be visible from the exterior of the building where
the commercial cannabis activity is being conducted.

(7) Security Measures. Every cannabis business shall maintain a commercial burglar alarm monitoring 
system, and install a video surveillance system.

(8) Security Breach. A cannabis business shall notify the city and the Glenn County sheriff’s office
within 24 hours after discovering any of the following:



a. Diversion, theft, loss, or any criminal activity involving the cannabis or cannabis product
or any agent or employee of the permittee.

b. The loss or unauthorized alteration of records related to cannabis or cannabis product,
registered qualifying patients, primary caregivers or employees or agents.

c. Significant discrepancies identified during inventory.
d. Any other material breach of security.

(9) Labeling and Packages. Labels and packages of cannabis and cannabis products shall meet all state 
and federal labeling and packaging requirements. Until such regulations are adopted by the
federal and/or state authorities, as a condition of license issuance, the city manager may impose
labeling and packaging requirements to protect the public safety, health and welfare of the
citizens of the City of Willows.

(10) Inspection Records. Inspections, if necessary, shall take place at a reasonable time with prior
notice to the cannabis business. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon reasonable suspicion of a
material violation of the law or the provisions of this code or the conditions of a license,
inspections may be made at any time, with or without prior notice. Upon request, the cannabis
business shall timely provide the city official with reports and records related to the business
including, but not limited to, sales reports, utility bills from the commercial energy provider for
the premises. This section shall not limit any inspection authorized under any other provision of
law or regulation.

(11) In addition to a retail/dispensary cannabis business license, obtain and maintain a business
license from the city of Willows.

(12) Maintain at all times commercial general liability insurance providing coverage at least as broad
as ISO CGL Form 00 01 on an occurrence basis for bodily injury, including death, of one or more
persons, property damage and personal injury with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per
occurrence and comprehensive automobile liability (owned, nonowned, hired) providing
coverage at least as broad as ISO Form CA 00 01 on an occurrence basis for bodily injury, including
death, of one or more persons, property damage and personal injury, with limits of not less than
$1,000,000. The commercial general liability policy shall provide contractual liability, shall include
a severability of interest or equivalent wording, shall specify that insurance coverage afforded to
the city shall be primary, and shall name the city of Willows, its officials, employees and attorneys
as additional insured. Failure to maintain insurance as required herein at all times shall be grounds
for suspension of the license immediately, and ultimately, revocation.

(13) By accepting the license, each licensee agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless to the
fullest extent permitted by law the city of Willows, its officers, employees, attorneys, agents and
consultants from and against any and all actual and alleged damages, claims, liabilities, costs
(including attorney’s fees), suits or other expenses resulting from and arising out of or in
connection with licensee’s operations, except such liability caused by the gross negligence or
willful misconduct of city of Willows, its officers, employees, attorneys, agents and consultants.

(14) Maintain for a minimum of three years a written accounting or ledger of all cash, receipts, credit
card and other financial transactions, and reimbursements (including any in-kind contributions)
as well as records of all operational expenditures and costs incurred by the licensee in accordance



with generally accepted accounting practices and standards typically applicable to business 
records, which shall be made available to the city, its auditors or consultants during business hours 
for inspection upon reasonable notice by the city manager and for purposes of audit. 

(15) Inform the city manager, in writing, of any change of or to any of the information submitted to
the city in phase one and phase two applications, any renewal application, or any amendments
thereto, within 10 days of any such change including, but not limited to, any change in ownership
of five percent or more in a single transaction or cumulatively.

(16) Notify the city manager within three days of any notices of violations or other corrective action
ordered by a state or other local licensing authority, and provide copies of the relevant
documents. [Ord. 745-19 § 6, 7-9-19; Ord. 736-17 § 7 (Exh. B), 11-28-17].

(17) Cannabis businesses that sell or manufacture edible cannabis products shall have a valid Glenn
County health permit. Permit holders shall comply with Health and Safety Code Section 13700 et
seq., and Glenn County health permit requirements. Such requirements provide a system of
prevention and overlapping safeguards designed to minimize foodborne illness, ensure employee
health, demonstrate industry manager knowledge, ensure safe food preparation practices and
delineate acceptable levels of sanitation for preparation of edible products.

(18) Drive-through or walk-up window services are prohibited at all retail/dispensary cannabis
establishments in the City of Willows.

(19) ) An application for renewal of a retail/dispensary cannabis business license, together with all
applicable fees, must be submitted to the city manager at least 90 days before the expiration of
the then-current license. Failure to submit a renewal application at least 90 days prior to the
expiration date of the then-current license will result in the automatic expiration of the license on
the expiration date.

(20) A retail/dispensary cannabis business license is nontransferable to another person, entity or
location, and no such transfer may be made except in accordance with this section. Any such
transfer made without the prior consent of the city of Willows shall result in the revocation of the
license. Any change in ownership of five percent or more, singly or cumulatively, shall be
considered a “change in ownership” and constitute a “transfer” for purposes of this section.

(21) Whenever an enforcement officer has reason to believe that a nuisance exists or that an
inspection is necessary to enforce any provision of this chapter, the officer may enter the premises 
at any reasonable time to perform the inspection or any other duty imposed by this title. The
enforcement officer shall provide reasonable notice of the need to enter and inspect.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event there is reasonable suspicion of the existence of a
nuisance or violation that presents an immediate or imminent danger to the health, safety or
welfare of the employees of licensee, its customers or the community at large, the enforcement
officer or other city official may enter the premises at any time without notice.

a. The enforcement officer shall present proper identification, state the purpose of the visit
and request permission of the owner or responsible person to enter the premises. If entry
is refused, the enforcement officer shall have recourse to every remedy provided by law
to secure entry. Any such refusal shall be grounds for suspension of the licensee’s license.



b. When the enforcement officer has first obtained a proper inspection warrant or other
remedy provided by law to secure entry, no owner or responsible person shall fail or
neglect, after proper request is made as provided in this title, to promptly permit entry
therein by the enforcement officer for the purpose of inspection and examination
pursuant to this title. [Ord. 736-17 § 7 (Exh. B), 11-28-17]

(22) Cannabis will not be sold to the public without electronic age verification.

(23) Electronic age verification will be utilized to verify the age and identity of any individuals
purchasing cannabis goods.

(24) Cannabis goods will only be received by the customer.

(25) On-site consumption of cannabis is prohibited at all times by all individuals on the property.

(26) No cannabis or cannabis products or graphics depicting cannabis or cannabis products will be
visible from the exterior of the business premises, or on any vehicles owned or used as part of the
business.

(27) The front entrance of the dispensary will have a secure lobby and no products will be visible
within this area.

(28) The entrance will maintain clear and legible notice, visibly posted stating that smoking, ingesting,
or otherwise consuming cannabis on the premises or in the areas adjacent to the commercial
cannabis business is prohibited. No loitering signage will be posted.

(29) The business, operator, or employees will not provide free cannabis or cannabis products to any
person and will abide by legal sales limits set by the Department of Cannabis Control.

(30) Signage for the facility will be submitted to the City of Willows for review and permit issuance.

(31) A current copy of the commercial cannabis business permit issued by the City and the State
license will be posted inside the business premises in a location readily visible.

(32) That the applicant/developer shall enter into a Pass-Through Agreement with the City of Willows
to pay the cost of all planning review, plan checking and field inspection of this project.

(33) If the use is not made on the project subject to the permit within one (1) year after the date of
granting the permit, then without further action, the permit shall be null and void, and such use
shall not be made of the property except upon the granting of a new permit.

(34) All plans for additional uses, which are not covered by this review, shall be submitted to the City
Manager and Planning Commission for review and approval prior to use.

(35) All building mounted and site lighting shall be shielded lights, down lights, and or full cut off lights
so that the bulb is not visible from off-site and light does not create glare or hazard onto adjoining
properties/streets. Cut sheets shall be submitted with building plans. All lighting must meet the
City Standards.



(36) All landscaping shall be maintained in good condition and any dead or dying plants, bushes, or
trees shall be replaced with new healthy stock of a size compatible with the remainder of the
growth at the time of replacement.

(37) The approval of this project shall be subject to the latest adopted Ordinances, Resolutions,
Policies and fees of the City of Willows.

(38) All contractors/sub-contractors doing work on the project shall obtain a City business license
prior to commencing operation. Facility shall operate in accordance with local laws.

(39) Changes in hours, days, or operating procedures must be reported to the Community
Development Department.

BUILDING DEPARTMENT 
(40) If you intend to construct, enlarge, alter, repair, move, demolish, or change the occupancy of the

building or structure or to erect, install, alter, repair, remove, convert, or replace any electrical,
gas, mechanical or plumbing system, the installation of which is regulated by code, or to cause
any such work to be done, you shall first make application for a building permit and obtain the
required permit for the development.

(41) Applicant shall submit a completed building permit application with detailed scope of work, 3
complete sets of plans, calculations, specifications, etc. for review. Appropriate plan review fees
shall be paid at the time of submittal.

(42) All work shall comply with current applicable Federal, State, local building codes and ordinances
and be shown on the plans submitted for building permit review.

(43) Conditions of approval shall be shown on the plans submitted for building permit review.

(44) Prior to issuance of a Building Permit for the construction of any structures on the site, a Final
Lighting Plan shall be submitted to the City and reviewed by the Engineer. The final lighting plan
shall include, but not limited to the following: (a) details regarding exterior lighting with lighting
sources that are full cut-off, hooded, and down-cast, or otherwise shielded to ensure that light
does adversely shine towards neighboring properties or toward the night sky, (b) lighting sources
with the minimum wattage necessary to provide adequate security without causing excessively
bright night glow, (c) sufficient details regarding the proposed wattage and area of coverage for
all site lights.

FIRE DEPARTMENT 
(45) Development impact fees are applicable to this project and shall be paid prior to the issuance of

a building permit.

(46) All buildings will have fire sprinkler systems provided and must meet the approval of the Fire
Chief.

(47) All fire and security alarm systems must meet the approval of the Fire Chief per WMC Chapter
15.15.



(48) The Site shall be equipped with a Knox box holding a master key per WMC Chapter 15.15.

(49) Fire extinguishers shall be provided in accordance with the latest CFC.

(50) The building address shall meet all WMC Chapter 15.15. criteria and be reviewed and approved
by the Fire Department prior to installation. An illuminated address sign shall be provided for the
property.

(51) Provide illuminated exit signs over all exit doors in accordance with the latest CBC and CFC.

(52) Red curbs may be required and will be reviewed at the time of construction/development of
project.

(53) All exit doors shall have no knowledge door locks, be posted “this door to remain unlocked when
building occupied” and swing in the direction of exit travel.

(54) All utility rooms will need to be identified by signage.

(55) A Pre-Fire Plan and Inspection will need to be completed before occupancy of the building.

(56) Regular Fire Department safety inspections shall occur annually.

GLENN COUNTY ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH DEPARTMENT 

(57) The applicant will need to plan check and obtain health/food permits from the Glenn County
Environmental Health Department. A copy of the permits shall be provided to the City.



u 

City of Willow:-i 
201 N L11�Sl'll St1(�t 
Willows, l'i\ 1151)1(1( 
Ph: 5_,o. 1n-1-7M, 
F11x: 530-�.'4-7,102 

UCFNSF.AM"I.ICAllON II: 

CANNAHIS RKJ'AII, DISPENSARY 

LICRNSE APPLICATION 

PHASF. 2 

S ,-Rl�:-::� :::ETP=-::NUMB:-=-:=-:E�R:--c(S�)--. ----......... --------------1E 

G 

rum 
D 

NAME or r,mroSED PROJf'CT 

'E r.l:!7----'----._ __ ...._.���---�::..L----4l
.,
��_JL..AJ.ll.l,t____.1�u..c,,LJ..t.V!=�-��o;__-4 

N 

t: 

R t-:-:-�':--'"'::..__-'--.L..,W::....___:��-----------.J.__---------------:-�:::-:-� 
A BMllTAL REQUIREMENTS SPECIFIC TO TIIE CANNABIS RETAIL DISPENSARY I.ICENSF.

I. , E 2, AS DESCRIBED IN TIIE AlTACI-IED CHECKLIST, MUST DE SUBMITTED WITH nus LICENSE 

CELI. PIIONE: 
C 

0 J-+:'-?4�,-4'�....,....,.-__;1t..._�L....:.....!c.l-.--------l--.ut.....J..__!.....!...J...-='-'-..../_.J--l-------------1 
N 

T 

A l--l:-,::';::-:-;±��=:-:-�o::....l.--_..!.�OC&��_.!c�l4-_jJ-_=-,--------�::!:l!���JUJ,,:JJ,!.��=-=r•r:s;J 
C 

T 

EMAIL: 

� ,-...:::l'R:-':0,-1'-El..:.tn--•-o-w-NE.!..!.R�: --=....µ...;::__ _____ i£..L ______ -1------------1-...J..;,f.t.a��J..J£..IC.'-<--.!...:.,:;U:,:...-'-I 

EMAIL: 

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE INFORMATION GIVEN ABOVE AND ATTACHED HERETO IS TRUE AND 
CORRECT, THAT THE PROPERTY OWNER JS AWARE OF AND AGREES WITH THIS APPLICATION. AND THAT 
FALSJFICA TION OF FACT WILL RESULT IN INVALIDATION OF THE APPLICATION. FURTI !ER, I UNDERSTAND 
TIIAT ANY APPROVAL GIVEN IS VALID FOR THE SPECIFIC PROJECT APPROVED ONLY AND IS SUBJECT TO 
ALL APPLICABLE LAWS, REGULATIONS AND CONDITIONS. THE APPLICATION SHALL BE SIGNED UNDER 
PENAL TY OF PERJURY. 

APPLICANT SIGNATURE: � __ z.._tt_�_ld_i_-=��---------- DATE: _:,_1,_L=tiJ ___ 
APPLICANT NAME PRINT: mt)'l/, {JJ/ 7;� 1u·

PROPERTY OWNER SIGNATURE: � DATE: 

PROPERTY OWNER NAME PRINT: \ 
__ .;,,_,:::;...:�>,J..:..:.......,,__........_....:....._,___;::._.:'-"'""-----

Page 11 of 15 

Attachment 3



























































Agenda Item #6b 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Date: 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

July 1, 2025  

Planning Commission 

Delanie Garlick, Harris & Associates  

Joe Bettencourt, Community Development & Service Director 

WWCRS, Inc./ Conditional Use Permit (File# CUP 25-02) /130 N. Butte St 

Recommendation: 
Receive the staff report, attachments, discuss, and upon conclusion, consider approving the request for 
a Conditional Use Permit and adopting the attached resolution.  

Rationale for Recommendation: 
This matter is before the Planning Commission pursuant to City of Willows Municipal Code (WMC) 
Chapter 9.20, Cannabis. 

Background & Process: 
City of Willows Cannabis Ordinance was recently amended to allow cannabis retail/dispensary 
businesses in the Central Commercial, General Commercial, and Light Industrial Zones with approval of 
a Conditional Use Permit (CUP). Previously, Cannabis retail businesses were not permitted in these 
zones. In May 2024, the new amendments to the ordinance reduced the setback requirements from 
schools to 600 feet and removed all setback requirements from churches, licensed daycares, 
playgrounds, and parks.  

The application process for a retail/dispensary cannabis business license consists of three phases: 
a. Preliminary application intended to confirm the eligibility and suitability of the applicant(s), as

determined in the sole discretion of the City of Willows (referred to as phase one);
b. Review of significant information about the proposed site of the business, proposed operations,

security and other detailed business operations (referred to as phase two); and
c. Final consideration and approval or disapproval by City Council (referred to as phase three).

If the city manager determines that phase one of the application is complete, and there appears to be 
no basis for denial of the permit, the city manager shall notify the applicant that it may continue to phase 
two in the application process. When the city manager has notified the applicant that the phase two 
application is accepted, the applicant shall apply for a CUP to be reviewed and decided by the Planning 
Commission. Lastly, when the city manager determines that phase two is complete, including the 

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Willows/#!/Willows09/Willows0920.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Willows/#!/Willows09/Willows0920.html


issuance of a CUP, the application shall be placed on the next available meeting agenda of the City 
Council. 

On March 21, 2025, phase one of the application process for the applicant, WWCRS, Inc., was deemed 
complete by City of Willows, and the applicant was given directions to proceed to phase two (Attachment 
3). Phase two of the application process includes the request for a CUP to meet Zoning Code Compliance 
as outlined in WMC 9.20.071(2, (a)viii)). The CUP includes the required findings as outlined in WMC 
18.135.050 as well as the standards and conditions found in WMC 9.20.080. The general conditions for 
retail/dispensary cannabis licenses are incorporated into the Conditions of Approval (Attachment 2).  

Discussion & Analysis: 
The applicant, WWCRS, Inc., is requesting a CUP as part of the phase two application process to operate 
a commercial retail cannabis dispensary in an existing 1,803 square foot building at 130 N. Butte Street, 
Suite AB in the Willow Walk Mall located within a Central Commercial zoning district. The Central 
Commercial district conditionally allows cannabis retail/dispensary business with a use permit pursuant 
to WMC Section 18.55.030(20) and pursuant to the development standards outlined in WMC Section 
9.20.070 to 9.20.080, as defined in WMC Section 8.10.010.  

Table 1: Site Information 
Present Use & Development Vacant commercial tenant space within the existing Willow Walk Mall 
Access & Parking Direct access via Sycamore Street to the south and Butte Street to the 

West. 
The existing parking lot provides on-site parking, additionally there is on-
street parking along Butte Street, adjacent to the project site.  

Surrounding Use/Zoning North – Central Commercial (CG), parking lot then commercial businesses 
East – Central Commercial (CG), Butte Street then commercial businesses 
West – Central Commercial (CG), parking lot then commercial businesses 
South – Central Commercial (CG), parking lot then Sycamore Street  

Figure 1: Site and surrounding zoning 



The proposed location is within the appropriate zone district, Central Commercial, which conditionally 
allows a cannabis retail/dispensary. Additionally, the location of the business meets the setback 
regulations per Ordinance 760-2024, which took effect on February 12, 2025. The operator 
demonstrates compliance with the general provisions outline WMC 9.20.080 including but not limited 
to hours of operations, odor control measures, security measures, labeling and packaging, inspections, 
limits on sales, maintenance of licenses and insurance, and accounting of sales. 

The applicant provided all necessary application materials as detailed in the Cannabis Retail/Dispensary 
Phase Two Application Checklist including a detailed security plan, site plan, floor plan, accessibility 
evaluation, zoning code compliance, and demonstration of experience in the industry. Also included in 
the application package are sixteen (16) letters of support for the location and operation of this cannabis 
retail/dispensary. The application materials demonstrate the applicant has met the provisions of the 
zoning compliance for a use permit to operate a cannabis retail/dispensary in the City of Willows 
(Attachment 4).  

Consistency Review: 
The proposed project is compatible with the surrounding existing and future land uses of the Central 
Commercial district, consistent with General Plan Policy LU-2a. The request for a CUP is consistent with 
policy LU-2f & LU-7a because it meets the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) and other applicable laws via categorical exemption 15301 (Existing Facilities). The proposed 
retail/dispensary will generate several full and part-time jobs in the Central Commercial district which 
meets the goals of policy LU 4.2 to support the continued development and intensification of 
employment opportunities throughout all non-residential areas. 

The proposed CUP for a cannabis retail/dispensary meets a number of the City Council’s 2024 priorities 
and goals. The council recognizes that new revenue is urgently needed to support essential services, 
infrastructure investments, and future development. This project meets Priority Goal #1 for financial 
stability by promoting investment and increased revenue through sales tax. The project also meets 
priority #2 for Economic Development as it is a new development within the city, it has the potential to 
contribute to economic growth. By creating jobs and attracting new businesses, the project can play a 
significant role in contributing to the local economy through sales tax revenue and fostering a vibrant 
and diverse economy to help overcome economic stagnation and competition from other communities. 
Lastly, the proposed CUP is consistent with Priority #4 by encouraging community engagement as the 
project would offer an opportunity for public input and engagement, allowing residents to share their 
thoughts and concerns during a public hearing. Collaborating with local businesses and organizations can 
drive economic activity and foster a stronger sense of community. 

Environmental Review: 
The project is categorically exempt from the preparation of environmental documentation under the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Guidelines Section 15301 (Existing Facilities). 
The project is consistent with General Plan policies for the land use designation and is consistent with 



the applicable zoning designation and regulations. The project consists of the operation of a commercial 
business in an existing structure. The project site is not on a list of hazardous waste sites and does not 
contain a significant historical resource. The project site is an existing developed property served by 
required utilities and public services.  

Attachments: 
 Attachment 1: Resolution XX-2025
 Attachment 2: Conditions of Approval
 Attachment 3: Phase 1 Approval Letter
 Attachment 4: Phase 2 Application Package



Attachment 1 

City of Willows  
Resolution XX-2025 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS GRANTING CONDITIONAL 
USE PERMIT APPROVAL OF A NEW RETAIL / DISPENSARY CANNABIS BUSINESS LICENSE (CUP 25-02) 

TO WWCRS, Inc. FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 130 N BUTTE STREET, ASSESSORS PARCEL NUMBER 
003-044-005 WITHIN THE CENTRAL COMMERCIAL ZONE

WHEREAS, the applicant, WWCRS, Inc., has submitted an application for Conditional Use Permit 
approval to allow the operation of a new retail / dispensary cannabis business license; and  

WHEREAS, City of Willows Municipal Code Chapter 18.55.030 requires approval of a Conditional 
Use Permit for the operation of a cannabis retail / dispensary business; and   

WHEREAS, City of Willows Municipal Code Chapter 9.20.070 – 9.20.080 establishes processes 
and general conditions for retail / dispensary cannabis business licenses; and  

WHEREAS, notice of the Planning Commission meeting held on July 1, 2025, was published in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the City in accordance with law, and mailing to property owners 
within 300 feet were sent; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission did, on July 1, 2025, hold a public hearing to consider all 
public oral and written comments, letters and documents, staff reports, and all other documents and 
evidence which are a part of the Record; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission does find that the proposed project qualifies as a 
Categorical Exemption under Section 15301 (Class 1) pursuant to the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Willows Municipal Code Chapter 18.135.050, the following findings are 
made for the approval of a use permit:  

1) That the use is consistent with the purposes of the district in which the site is located.
Willows Municipal Code (WMC) Chapter 18.55.030(20) allows for cannabis retail /
dispensary business within the Central Commercial zone with approval of a conditional
use permit.

2) That the proposed location of the use and the conditions under which it may be operated
or maintained will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare or materially
injurious to properties or improvements in the vicinity.
The location of the cannabis retail / dispensary business would be in an existing
commercial building. Minor tenant improvements would be required. Conditions of
Approval outlined in WMC Chapter 9.20.080 including hours of operation, odor control
and security measures would be included in the project to ensure the business is operated



and maintained in a manner that is not detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare 
of those in the vicinity.  

3) That the proposed use is in conformance with the General Plan.
Commercial businesses are allowed within the land use designation of Central
Commercial.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission of the City of Willows does 
hereby find that the Conditional Use Permit to allow the operation of a retail / dispensary cannabis 
business license is consistent with the City of Willows Municipal Code and General Plan, and findings 
incorporated, and hereby approves Conditional Use Permit #CUP 25-02, subject to the attached 
conditions of approval. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Willows this 1st day of July 2025, by 
the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

APPROVED: ATTESTED: 

Llanira Valencia, Vice Chair  Karleen Price, City Clerk 



Attachment 2 

Conditions of Approval 
Conditional Use Permit (CUP 25-02)  

 For Retail / Dispensary Cannabis Business License 
130 N Butte Street /APN: 003-044-005 

Planning Commission Approval Date: July 1, 2025 

GENERAL 
(1) This Conditional Use Permit (CUP 25-02) allows for the operation of a cannabis retail / dispensary

business. “Dispensary” is defined as a retail establishment, facility, or location primarily engaged
in dispensing medical cannabis or medical cannabis products, holding an M-license issued by the
State of California. This definition excludes the lawful dispensing of medical cannabis by a primary
caregiver to a qualified patient in exempted settings, such as a private residence or licensed
healthcare facility, provided such dispensing complies fully with all applicable provisions of the
California Health and Safety Code, including but not limited to Sections 11362.5 et seq. Any future
proposal for dispensary-related use shall be subject to separate review and approval in
accordance with applicable zoning, licensing, and regulatory requirements.

(2) Prior to commencing business operations pursuant to a cannabis retail/dispensary business
license issued by the city of Willows, the applicant shall hold a certificate of authorization issued
by the City of Willows. Certificates of authorization shall be issued only to applicants who hold (a)
a retail/dispensary cannabis sales license issued by the City of Willows, (b) a use permit issued by
the city of Willows planning commission, and (c) California state-issued A-license and/or M-license

(3) Hours of Operation. All permitted retail/dispensary cannabis business premises shall be closed to
the general public and transporter deliveries and pick-ups shall be prohibited between the hours
of 7:00 p.m. and 8:00 a.m.

(4) Odor Control. Odors shall be contained on the property on which the commercial cannabis activity 
is located. If the city receives any odor complaints, the cannabis business shall work with the
building official or his designee to correct odor concerns. Unresolved or repeated odor complaints 
may be basis for suspension or revocation of the license or denial of license renewal.

(5) Minors. Licensees shall ensure that no person less than 21 years of age is permitted to work as an
employee, to purchase cannabis or cannabis products, or to be on the premises of the licensee at
any time.

(6) Business Conducted within Building. No production, distribution, storage, display or wholesale of
cannabis and cannabis-infused products shall be visible from the exterior of the building where
the commercial cannabis activity is being conducted.

(7) Security Measures. Every cannabis business shall maintain a commercial burglar alarm monitoring 
system, and install a video surveillance system.

(8) Security Breach. A cannabis business shall notify the city and the Glenn County sheriff’s office
within 24 hours after discovering any of the following:



a. Diversion, theft, loss, or any criminal activity involving the cannabis or cannabis product
or any agent or employee of the permittee.

b. The loss or unauthorized alteration of records related to cannabis or cannabis product,
registered qualifying patients, primary caregivers or employees or agents.

c. Significant discrepancies identified during inventory.
d. Any other material breach of security.

(9) Labeling and Packages. Labels and packages of cannabis and cannabis products shall meet all state 
and federal labeling and packaging requirements. Until such regulations are adopted by the
federal and/or state authorities, as a condition of license issuance, the city manager may impose
labeling and packaging requirements to protect the public safety, health and welfare of the
citizens of the City of Willows.

(10) Inspection Records. Inspections, if necessary, shall take place at a reasonable time with prior
notice to the cannabis business. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon reasonable suspicion of a
material violation of the law or the provisions of this code or the conditions of a license,
inspections may be made at any time, with or without prior notice. Upon request, the cannabis
business shall timely provide the city official with reports and records related to the business
including, but not limited to, sales reports, utility bills from the commercial energy provider for
the premises. This section shall not limit any inspection authorized under any other provision of
law or regulation.

(11) In addition to a retail/dispensary cannabis business license, obtain and maintain a business
license from the city of Willows.

(12) Maintain at all times commercial general liability insurance providing coverage at least as broad
as ISO CGL Form 00 01 on an occurrence basis for bodily injury, including death, of one or more
persons, property damage and personal injury with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per
occurrence and comprehensive automobile liability (owned, nonowned, hired) providing
coverage at least as broad as ISO Form CA 00 01 on an occurrence basis for bodily injury, including
death, of one or more persons, property damage and personal injury, with limits of not less than
$1,000,000. The commercial general liability policy shall provide contractual liability, shall include
a severability of interest or equivalent wording, shall specify that insurance coverage afforded to
the city shall be primary, and shall name the city of Willows, its officials, employees and attorneys
as additional insured. Failure to maintain insurance as required herein at all times shall be grounds
for suspension of the license immediately, and ultimately, revocation.

(13) By accepting the license, each licensee agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless to the
fullest extent permitted by law the city of Willows, its officers, employees, attorneys, agents and
consultants from and against any and all actual and alleged damages, claims, liabilities, costs
(including attorney’s fees), suits or other expenses resulting from and arising out of or in
connection with licensee’s operations, except such liability caused by the gross negligence or
willful misconduct of city of Willows, its officers, employees, attorneys, agents and consultants.

(14) Maintain for a minimum of three years a written accounting or ledger of all cash, receipts, credit
card and other financial transactions, and reimbursements (including any in-kind contributions)
as well as records of all operational expenditures and costs incurred by the licensee in accordance



with generally accepted accounting practices and standards typically applicable to business 
records, which shall be made available to the city, its auditors or consultants during business hours 
for inspection upon reasonable notice by the city manager and for purposes of audit. 

(15) Inform the city manager, in writing, of any change of or to any of the information submitted to
the city in phase one and phase two applications, any renewal application, or any amendments
thereto, within 10 days of any such change including, but not limited to, any change in ownership
of five percent or more in a single transaction or cumulatively.

(16) Notify the city manager within three days of any notices of violations or other corrective action
ordered by a state or other local licensing authority, and provide copies of the relevant
documents. [Ord. 745-19 § 6, 7-9-19; Ord. 736-17 § 7 (Exh. B), 11-28-17].

(17) Cannabis businesses that sell or manufacture edible cannabis products shall have a valid Glenn
County health permit. Permit holders shall comply with Health and Safety Code Section 13700 et
seq., and Glenn County health permit requirements. Such requirements provide a system of
prevention and overlapping safeguards designed to minimize foodborne illness, ensure employee
health, demonstrate industry manager knowledge, ensure safe food preparation practices and
delineate acceptable levels of sanitation for preparation of edible products.

(18) Drive-through or walk-up window services are prohibited at all retail/dispensary cannabis
establishments in the City of Willows.

(19) ) An application for renewal of a retail/dispensary cannabis business license, together with all
applicable fees, must be submitted to the city manager at least 90 days before the expiration of
the then-current license. Failure to submit a renewal application at least 90 days prior to the
expiration date of the then-current license will result in the automatic expiration of the license on
the expiration date.

(20) A retail/dispensary cannabis business license is nontransferable to another person, entity or
location, and no such transfer may be made except in accordance with this section. Any such
transfer made without the prior consent of the city of Willows shall result in the revocation of the
license. Any change in ownership of five percent or more, singly or cumulatively, shall be
considered a “change in ownership” and constitute a “transfer” for purposes of this section.

(21) Whenever an enforcement officer has reason to believe that a nuisance exists or that an
inspection is necessary to enforce any provision of this chapter, the officer may enter the premises 
at any reasonable time to perform the inspection or any other duty imposed by this title. The
enforcement officer shall provide reasonable notice of the need to enter and inspect.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event there is reasonable suspicion of the existence of a
nuisance or violation that presents an immediate or imminent danger to the health, safety or
welfare of the employees of licensee, its customers or the community at large, the enforcement
officer or other city official may enter the premises at any time without notice.

a. The enforcement officer shall present proper identification, state the purpose of the visit
and request permission of the owner or responsible person to enter the premises. If entry
is refused, the enforcement officer shall have recourse to every remedy provided by law
to secure entry. Any such refusal shall be grounds for suspension of the licensee’s license.



b. When the enforcement officer has first obtained a proper inspection warrant or other
remedy provided by law to secure entry, no owner or responsible person shall fail or
neglect, after proper request is made as provided in this title, to promptly permit entry
therein by the enforcement officer for the purpose of inspection and examination
pursuant to this title. [Ord. 736-17 § 7 (Exh. B), 11-28-17]

(22) Cannabis will not be sold to the public without electronic age verification.

(23) Electronic age verification will be utilized to verify the age and identity of any individuals
purchasing cannabis goods.

(24) Cannabis goods will only be received by the customer.

(25) On-site consumption of cannabis is prohibited at all times by all individuals on the property.

(26) No cannabis or cannabis products or graphics depicting cannabis or cannabis products will be
visible from the exterior of the business premises, or on any vehicles owned or used as part of the
business.

(27) The front entrance of the dispensary will have a secure lobby and no products will be visible
within this area.

(28) The entrance will maintain clear and legible notice, visibly posted stating that smoking, ingesting,
or otherwise consuming cannabis on the premises or in the areas adjacent to the commercial
cannabis business is prohibited. No loitering signage will be posted.

(29) The business, operator, or employees will not provide free cannabis or cannabis products to any
person and will abide by legal sales limits set by the Department of Cannabis Control.

(30) Signage for the facility will be submitted to the City of Willows for review and permit issuance.

(31) A current copy of the commercial cannabis business permit issued by the City and the State
license will be posted inside the business premises in a location readily visible.

(32) That the applicant/developer shall enter into a Pass-Through Agreement with the City of Willows
to pay the cost of all planning review, plan checking and field inspection of this project.

(33) If the use is not made on the project subject to the permit within one (1) year after the date of
granting the permit, then without further action, the permit shall be null and void, and such use
shall not be made of the property except upon the granting of a new permit.

(34) All plans for additional uses, which are not covered by this review, shall be submitted to the City
Manager and Planning Commission for review and approval prior to use.

(35) All building mounted and site lighting shall be shielded lights, down lights, and or full cut off lights
so that the bulb is not visible from off-site and light does not create glare or hazard onto adjoining
properties/streets. Cut sheets shall be submitted with building plans. All lighting must meet the
City Standards.



(36) All landscaping shall be maintained in good condition and any dead or dying plants, bushes, or
trees shall be replaced with new healthy stock of a size compatible with the remainder of the
growth at the time of replacement.

(37) The approval of this project shall be subject to the latest adopted Ordinances, Resolutions,
Policies and fees of the City of Willows.

(38) All contractors/sub-contractors doing work on the project shall obtain a City business license
prior to commencing operation. Facility shall operate in accordance with local laws.

(39) Changes in hours, days, or operating procedures must be reported to the Community
Development Department.

BUILDING DEPARTMENT 
(40) If you intend to construct, enlarge, alter, repair, move, demolish, or change the occupancy of the

building or structure or to erect, install, alter, repair, remove, convert, or replace any electrical,
gas, mechanical or plumbing system, the installation of which is regulated by code, or to cause
any such work to be done, you shall first make application for a building permit and obtain the
required permit for the development.

(41) Applicant shall submit a completed building permit application with detailed scope of work, 3
complete sets of plans, calculations, specifications, etc. for review. Appropriate plan review fees
shall be paid at the time of submittal.

(42) All work shall comply with current applicable Federal, State, local building codes and ordinances
and be shown on the plans submitted for building permit review.

(43) Conditions of approval shall be shown on the plans submitted for building permit review.

(44) Prior to issuance of a Building Permit for the construction of any structures on the site, a Final
Lighting Plan shall be submitted to the City and reviewed by the Engineer. The final lighting plan
shall include, but not limited to the following: (a) details regarding exterior lighting with lighting
sources that are full cut-off, hooded, and down-cast, or otherwise shielded to ensure that light
does adversely shine towards neighboring properties or toward the night sky, (b) lighting sources
with the minimum wattage necessary to provide adequate security without causing excessively
bright night glow, (c) sufficient details regarding the proposed wattage and area of coverage for
all site lights.

FIRE DEPARTMENT 
(45) Development impact fees are applicable to this project and shall be paid prior to the issuance of

a building permit.

(46) All buildings will have fire sprinkler systems provided and must meet the approval of the Fire
Chief.

(47) All fire and security alarm systems must meet the approval of the Fire Chief per WMC Chapter
15.15.



(48) The Site shall be equipped with a Knox box holding a master key per WMC Chapter 15.15.

(49) Fire extinguishers shall be provided in accordance with the latest CFC.

(50) The building address shall meet all WMC Chapter 15.15. criteria and be reviewed and approved
by the Fire Department prior to installation. An illuminated address sign shall be provided for the
property.

(51) Provide illuminated exit signs over all exit doors in accordance with the latest CBC and CFC.

(52) Red curbs may be required and will be reviewed at the time of construction/development of
project.

(53) All exit doors shall have no knowledge door locks, be posted “this door to remain unlocked when
building occupied” and swing in the direction of exit travel.

(54) All utility rooms will need to be identified by signage.

(55) A Pre-Fire Plan and Inspection will need to be completed before occupancy of the building.

(56) Regular Fire Department safety inspections shall occur annually.

GLENN COUNTY ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH DEPARTMENT 

(57) The applicant will need to plan check and obtain health/food permits from the Glenn County
Environmental Health Department. A copy of the permits shall be provided to the City.



201 North Lassen • Willows, California 95988 • (530) 934-7041 • FAX (530) 934-7 402 

City of Willows

Joe Bettencourt 
Community Development and Services Director 
201 N. Lassen St. 
Willows, CA 95988 

March 21, 2025 

NATIVE! 

Attn: Margaret Sharkey and Hamar Crespo 
PO BOX 4160 
Vallejo, CA 94590 

Subject: Approval of Phase 1 Cannabis Business License Application - Eligibility for Phase 2 

Dear Ms. Sharkey and Mr. Crespo, 

We are pleased to inform you that your Phase 1 Cannabis Business License Application for 130 
N. Butte St. has been conditionally approved pending the receipt of the background
investigation for David Spradlin. As a result, you are now conditionally eligible to submit a
Phase 2 application for further review and consideration.

As part of the Phase 2 application process, please ensure that you provide all required items. 
We have provided a sample table of contents as Attachment 1 to this letter. Please number all 
pages and reference them in the table of contents. Timely submission of these materials is 
essential to ensure the continued processing of your application. Please ensure all documents 
are clear, complete, and submitted within the specified timeframe. 

Should you require any clarification, please do not hesitate to reach out to 
f�ld,_•:,:•·;1'.'.'..:' ;· 1< 0:11, 1 ,

'.
:- • ,, .• We appreciate your cooperation and look forward to receiving 

your Phase 2 application. 

_:. >C-'�� h ,>/ ,:;-� 
Joe Bettencourt 
Community Development and Services Director 
City of Willows 

Attachment 3



Attachment 4















JBettencourt
Text Box
Tab 1

JBettencourt
Text Box

JBettencourt
Text Box

































JBettencourt
Text Box
Tab 2

JBettencourt
Text Box























JBettencourt
Text Box
Tab 3

JBettencourt
Text Box









JBettencourt
Text Box
Tab 4

JBettencourt
Text Box





JBettencourt
Text Box

JBettencourt
Text Box







JBettencourt
Text Box
Tab 6

JBettencourt
Text Box







JBettencourt
Text Box
Tab 7

JBettencourt
Text Box









JBettencourt
Text Box
Tab 10



































































































JBettencourt
Text Box
Tab 11



JBettencourt
Text Box
Tab 12













JBettencourt
Text Box
Tab 13













JBettencourt
Text Box
Tab 14













JBettencourt
Text Box
Tab 15

JBettencourt
Text Box





















































Agenda Item #6c

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Date: 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

July 1, 2025  

Planning Commission 

Delanie Garlick, Harris & Associates  

Joe Bettencourt, Community Development & Service Director 

Ionna EV/Design Review (File# DR-25-04)/246 N Humboldt Avenue 

Recommendation: 
Staff recommends receive the Staff Report, attachments, discuss, and upon conclusion, consider approving the 
Design Review request and adopting the attached resolution.  

Rationale for Recommendation: 
This matter is before the Planning Commission pursuant to City of Willows Municipal Code (WMC) Chapter 18.141. 

Background: 
The applicant is requesting approval of a design review for the construction of an IONNA Electric Vehicle (EV) 
charging station. The EV charging area would be located along the northern boundary line of Assessor Parcel 
Number (APN): 001-041-024. The project site, 246 N Humboldt Avenue, is developed with a restaurant, Black Bear 
Diner.  

Discussion & Analysis: 
The project site is zoned as Highway Commercial. In this zoning district, commercial uses such as restaurants, 
convenience stores, and automobile service stations, are permitted uses allowed per WMC Chapter 18.65.020. 
The Highway Commercial Zoning regulations align with the proposed EV charging station, as automobile service 
stations are permitted, ensuring compliance with local land use standards. Furthermore, the Highway Commercial 
Zone’s character and development patterns are well-suited to accommodate an electric vehicle charging area as 
there are two gas stations, one adjacent and one across the street to the project site. The EV charging station will 
also serve patrons of the onsite restaurant, further integrating it into the site’s overall commercial use.  

The proposed project would construct five (5) fast-charging stations with the capacity to support ten (10) vehicles 
at one time. A protective steel beam canopy, approximately 13 feet in height, would cover the electric vehicle 
area. The exterior of the canopy would be painted a soft dark black, with the underside painted orange. The 
charging equipment would feature a Robin’s Egg blue finish, complemented by orange bollards positioned in front 
for protection. Additionally, a transformer mounted on a concrete pad would be located to the west of the 
charging area, along N. Humboldt Avenue.  

Consistency with Council Priorities and Goals: 
The project is consistent with Priority #4: Community Engagement as the project would offer an opportunity for 
public input and engagement, allowing residents to share their thoughts and concerns during a public hearing. 



 

The project is also consistent with Priority #2: Economic Development as it is a new development within the City, 
it has the potential to contribute to economic growth. The project could allow the City to collect sales tax on an 
area that would simply be used for parking.  

Fiscal Impact: 
There is no cost to the City associated with this request as the project has a PTA deposit on file. 

Attachments: 
 Attachment 1: Resolution XX-2024
 Attachment 2: Conditions of Approval
 Attachment 3: Project Plans
 Attachment 4: Project Rendering
 Attachment 5: Color Board
 Attachment 6: Design Review Analysis

a. Site Photos



Attachment 1 

City of Willows  
Resolution XX-2025 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS GRANTING THE DESIGN 
REVIEW APPROVAL OF A NEW ELECTRIC (EV) CHARGING STATION FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 

246 N HUMBOLDT AVENUE, ASSESSORS PARCEL NUMBER 001-041-024 WITHIN THE HIGHWAY 
COMMERICAL ZONE 

WHEREAS, the applicant, Bryant De La Torre, of Kimley-Horn, on the behalf of the property 
owner, Joan and Kenneth Gosliner, has submitted an application for a Design Review approval to allow 
a new electric vehicle (EV) charging station that would support ten (10) vehicles with five (5) charging 
stations, a 13 foot tall canopy, and transformer; and 

WHEREAS, City of Willows Municipal Code Section Chapter 18.141 requires all new commercial 
buildings and physical improvements obtained Design Review approval; and, 

WHEREAS, notice of the Planning Commission meeting held on July 1, 2025, was published in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the City in accordance with law, and mailing to property owners 
within 300 feet were sent; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission did, on July 1, 2025, hold a public hearing to consider all 
public oral and written comments, letters and documents, staff reports, and all other documents and 
evidence which are a part of the Record; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission does find that the proposed project qualifies as a 
Categorical Exemption under Section 15301 (Class 1), 15303 (Class 3) and 15311 (Class 11) pursuant to 
the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 18.135.050 of the Zoning Ordinance, the following findings are 
made: 

1) That the use is consistent with the purposes of the district in which the site is located.
WMC Chapter 18.65.020(3) allows for automobile service stations within the Highway
Commercial zone.

2) That the proposed location of the use and the conditions under which it may be operated
or maintained will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare or materially
injurious to properties or improvements in the vicinity.
The location of the new use will be located on land that is currently underutilized, and
conditions of approval have been placed upon the use ensuring that it will not be
detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare or materially injurious to properties.



3) That the proposed use is in conformance with the General Plan.
Commercial businesses are allowed within the land use designation of Highway
Commercial.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission of the City of Willows does 
hereby find that the Design Review proposal to allow construction of a new electric vehicle (EV) charging 
station that would support ten (10) vehicles with five (5) charging stations, a 13 foot tall canopy, and 
transformer is consistent with the City of Willows Municipal Code and General Plan, and findings 
incorporated, and hereby approves Design Review Permit #DR 25-04, subject to the attached conditions 
of approval. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Willows this 1st day of July 2025, by 
the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

APPROVED: ATTESTED: 

Llanira Valencia, Vice Chair  Karleen Price, City Clerk 



Attachment 2 

Conditions of Approval 
Design Review (DR 25-04) 

 IONNA Electric Vehicle Charging Station 
246 N Humbolt Avenue /APN: 001-041-024 

Planning Commission Approval Date: July 1, 2025 
GENERAL 

1. That the applicant/developer shall enter into a Pass-Through Agreement with the City of Willows
to pay the cost of all planning review, plan checking and field inspection of this project.

2. If the subject project is not constructed within one (1) year after the date of granting the permit,
then without further action, the permit shall be null and void, and such use shall not be made of
the property except upon the granting of a new permit.

3. All plans for additional uses, which are not covered by this review, shall be submitted to the City
Manager and Planning Commission for review and approval prior to use.

4. The Architectural Design Review approval shall expire in one (1) year unless otherwise stipulated
by the Planning Commission. The applicant may apply to the City for an extension of not more
than one (1) year from the original date of expiration, if found that there has been no substantial
change in the factual circumstances surrounding the originally approved design. Substantial
changes and any further extension beyond one (1) year shall require Planning Commission
approval.

5. The developer shall adhere to the design and specification of the Architectural Design Review
approval for the exterior façade improvements, to include the proposed material/color scheme
of the new equipment, compliant parking spaces, landscaping, signage, and necessary site
improvements as shown on the plans submitted with the application. An occupancy permit shall
not be issued in part or whole for any building or group of buildings subject to design review
unless and until the work specified in the design review approval has been completed, including
landscaping. If for any valid reason full compliance cannot be made; a cash bond shall be posted
for the work to be completed within a reasonable period of time as determined by the City
Manager or his authorized representative.

6. All building mounted and site lighting shall be shielded lights, down lights, and or full cut off lights
so that the bulb is not visible from off-site and light does not create glare or hazard onto adjoining
properties/streets. Cut sheets shall be submitted with building plans. All lighting must meet the
City Standards.

7. All landscaping shall be maintained in good condition and any dead or dying plants, bushes, or
trees shall be replaced with new healthy stock of a size compatible with the remainder of the
growth at the time of replacement.

8. The approval of this project shall be subject to the latest adopted Ordinances, Resolutions, Policies 
and fees of the City of Willows.

9. In the event that archaeological remains or artifacts are uncovered during construction activities,
work shall be stopped, and a qualified archaeologist shall survey the site. The archaeologist shall
submit a report with recommendations of the disposition of the site. Disposition may include, but
is not limited to, excavation and documentation, capping the site, or leaving the site in an open
space area. The recommendations of the archaeologist shall be incorporated in the project.

10. All contractors/sub-contractors doing work on the project shall obtain a City business license prior 
to commencing operation. Facility shall operate in accordance with local laws.

11. Changes in hours, days, or operating procedures must be reported to the Community
Development Department.



BUILDING DEPARTMENT 
12. If you intend to construct, enlarge, alter, repair, move, demolish, or change the occupancy of the

building or structure or to erect, install, alter, repair, remove, convert, or replace any electrical,
gas, mechanical or plumbing system, the installation of which is regulated by code, or to cause
any such work to be done, you shall first make application for a building permit and obtain the
required permit for the development.

13. Applicant shall submit a completed building permit application with detailed scope of work, 3
complete sets of plans, calculations, specifications, etc. for review. Appropriate plan review fees
shall be paid at the time of submittal.

14. All work shall comply with current applicable Federal, State, local building codes and ordinances
and be shown on the plans submitted for building permit review.

15. Conditions of approval shall be shown on the plans submitted for building permit review.
16. Prior to issuance of a Building Permit for the construction of any structures on the site, a Final

Lighting Plan shall be submitted to the City and reviewed by the Engineer. The final lighting plan
shall include, but not limited to the following: (a) details regarding exterior lighting with lighting
sources that are full cut-off, hooded, and down-cast, or otherwise shielded to ensure that light
does adversely shine towards neighboring properties or toward the night sky, (b) lighting sources
with the minimum wattage necessary to provide adequate security without causing excessively
bright night glow, (c) sufficient details regarding the proposed wattage and area of coverage for
all site lights.

FIRE DEPARTMENT 
17. Development impact fees are applicable to this project and shall be paid prior to the issuance of

a building permit.
18. All buildings will have fire sprinkler systems provided and must meet the approval of the Fire

Chief.
19. All fire and security alarm systems must meet the approval of the Fire Chief per WMC Chapter

15.15.
20. The Site shall be equipped with a Knox box holding a master key per WMC Chapter 15.15.
21. Shall provide fire extinguishers in accordance with the latest CFC.
22. The building address shall meet all WMC Chapter 15.15. criteria and be reviewed and approved

by the Fire Department prior to installation. An illuminated address sign shall be provided for the
property.

23. Red curbs maybe required and will be reviewed at the time of construction/development of
project.

24. A Pre-Fire Plan and Inspection will need to be completed before occupancy.
25. Regular Fire Department safety inspections shall occur annually.

ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 
26. Developer shall design and construct all improvements and facilities shown on the design review

plans submitted for permit approval in accordance with the Willows Municipal Code (WMC), the
City of Willows Design and Construction Standards. Approval of a design review site plans
depicting improvements that do not conform to the WMC or City standards does not constitute
approval of an exception to the WMC or City standards unless explicitly stated herein or in another 
City resolution.

27. The developer shall be responsible for all City plan check, map check and inspection costs. The
developer shall deposit funds with the City upon the initiation of plan check services. The amount



of the initial deposit shall be determined by the City Engineer. Additional funds may be required 
based upon actual plan check and inspection costs. 

28. Site improvement plans shall be prepared and submitted by a California Registered Civil Engineer
for the construction of all necessary and required on-site and off-site improvements including
grading, water, sanitary sewer, storm drain facilities, roadway improvements, curbs, gutters, and
sidewalks. All design and construction shall conform to the City of Willows Design and
Construction Standards, as applicable.

29. A detailed Soils Investigation/Geotechnical Report shall be prepared and submitted for review.
The report shall address, at a minimum, potential for liquefaction, expansive soils and seismic risk. 
The improvement plans shall incorporate all design and construction criteria recommended in the
Geotechnical Report.

30. All private water mains, sewer mains and storm drains shall be clearly labeled “Private” on the
improvement plans.

31. Improvements plans shall include a storm water pollution prevention plan. Erosion control
measures shall include hydroseeding of all graded slopes within 60 days of completion of grading.

32. Driveways into the proposed development shall be installed per the City’s most recent standards
and shall conform to the most recent ADA standards. If the sidewalk associated with the
driveways must encroach onto private property outside of the right-of-way, pedestrian public
access easements shall be provided by separate document and shall be recorded prior to issuance
of a building permit.

33. Any work within the State right-of-way shall require a Caltrans encroachment permit. Proof of
Caltrans’ issued encroachment permit shall be required prior to issuance of a building permit for
the project.

34. All sidewalk that is current cracked or displaced shall be replaced with the construction of the
project.

35. All existing utilities shown on the site plan that conflict with the proposed project (water, gas,
electric, telephone, etc.) shall either be removed or properly abandoned. The improvement plans
for the proposed project shall indicate removal or abandonment.

WATER AND SANITARY SEWER IMPROVEMENTS 

DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS 
36. All project related flooding impacts shall be mitigated by the project developer. Drainage

improvements shall be designed in accordance with the Design Criteria utilizing the rationale
method and any applicable adopted City drainage plans.

37. The applicant shall submit for review and approval, drainage plans and hydraulic calculations
prepared by a Registered Civil Engineer. The drainage plans and calculations shall indicate the
following conditions before and after development:

a. Quantities of water, water flow rates, major water courses, drainage areas and patterns,
diversions, collection systems, flood hazard areas, sumps, and drainage courses.

b. Post-development off-site flows shall not exceed pre-development flows.
38. Low Impact Development (LID) improvements shall be provided for on the plans along with

calculations submitted with the first plan check of the improvement plans.
39. All existing easements shall be shown on the plans. If existing easements are provided for the

benefit of other parcels, either the proposed improvements shall preserve the easements or shall
provide new easements prior to the issuance of a building permit.

40. No grading or other construction shall be performed until the improvement plans have been
approved and signed by the City Engineer. Encroachment Permits and Building Permits will not be



issued prior to the approval of the improvement plans. An Encroachment Permit is required for 
any work within the City’s rights of way. 

41. The developer shall keep adjoining public streets free and clean of project dirt, mud, materials,
and debris during the construction period, as is found necessary by the City Engineer.

42. If any hazardous waste is encountered during the construction of this project, all work shall be
immediately stopped and the Glenn County Environmental Health Department, the Fire
Department, the Police Department, and the City Inspector shall be notified immediately. Work
shall not proceed until clearance has been issued by all of these agencies.

43. Where soil or geologic conditions encountered in grading operations are different from that
anticipated in the soil and/or geologic investigation report, or where such conditions warrant
changes to the recommendations contained in the original soil investigation, a revised soil or
geologic report shall be submitted for approval by the City Engineer. It shall be accompanied by
an engineering and geological opinion as to the safety of the site from hazards of land slippage,
erosion, settlement, and seismic activity. Additionally, if field conditions warrant installation of
any subdrains, the location, size and construction details must be provided to the City for review
and approval prior to construction.

44. All streets, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, or other public facilities damage in the course of construction 
associated with this development shall be the responsibility of the Developer and shall be repaired 
to the satisfaction of the City at the Developer’s expense.

45. Dust control must be maintained to the City’s satisfaction.
46. Working hours shall be restricted to the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 6 p.m., Monday through Friday.
47. Developer shall provide sufficient surety guaranteeing the public improvements for a period of

one year.



BIGGS WILLOWS ROAD

N
 H

U
M

B
O

LD
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

Sheet Number Sheet Title

G0.0 COVER SHEET

G1.0 GENERAL NOTES

G2.0 CHARGER SPEC SHEETS

C1.0 ALTA SURVEY (BY OTHERS)

C2.0 SITE PLAN

C2.1 ENLARGED SITE PLAN

C2.2 FFE PLAN

C2.3 FINISH PLAN

C3.0 DEMOLITION AND EROSION & SEDIMENT CONTROL PLAN

C4.0 GRADING PLAN

C5.0 E&S DETAILS

C6.0 CIVIL DETAILS

C6.1 CIVIL DETAILS

C6.2 CIVIL DETAILS

C6.3 CANOPY DETAILS

C6.4 CANOPY DETAILS

C6.5 CANOPY DETAILS

E1.0 ELECTRICAL NOTES

E2.0 SINGLE LINE DIAGRAM

E3.0 ELECTRICAL DETAILS

E3.1 ELECTRICAL DETAILS

SHEET NUMBER

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9N
o.

BY
D

AT
E

IS
SU

E 
BL

O
C

K

10

PRELIMINARY
PLANS
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

DRAFT

42
1 

FA
YE

TT
EV

IL
LE

 S
T,

 S
U

IT
E 

60
0,

R
AL

EI
G

H
, N

C
 2

76
01

M
ai

n:
 (9

19
) 6

77
-2

00
0 

 | 
 w

w
w

.k
im

le
y-

ho
rn

.c
om

©
20

25
  K

im
le

y-
H

or
n 

an
d 

As
so

ci
at

es
, I

nc
.

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, as an instrument of service, is intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared. Reuse of and improper reliance on this document without written authorization and adaptation by Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. shall be without liability to Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
This PDF was plotted by ---- on Friday, May 30, 2025  5:26:09 PM at the file path: K:\RAL_LDEV\000000000_Ionna EV\CA-0042_246 N Humboldt Ave, Willows, CA\07_CAD Files\PlanSheets

DOCUMENTS WITHOUT SIGNATURE
AND REQUIRED SEAL OF AOR / EOR

ARE NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

PUBLIC EV KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 P
R

O
JE

C
T 

N
O

.:
01

68
95

05
6

EV
 S

TA
LL

S:
10

24
6 

N
 H

U
M

BO
LD

T 
AV

E

W
IL

LO
W

S,
 C

A 
95

98
8

ST
O

R
E 

N
O

.: 
C

A-
00

42
 W

IL
LO

W
S,

 C
A

CONSULTANTS

W
IL

LO
W

S,
 C

A 
95

98
8 

AU
TH

O
R

IZ
ED

 A
N

D
 M

AY
 B

E 
C

O
N

TR
AR

Y 
TO

TH
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 W

AS
 P

R
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R
 T

H
E 

LA
W

. S
U

IT
AB

LE
 F

O
R

U
SE

 O
N

 A
 D

IF
FE

R
EN

T 
O

F 
TH

IS
 D

R
AW

IN
G

 F
O

R
 R

EF
ER

EN
C

E 
O

R

C
O

N
TE

M
PO

R
AN

EO
U

SL
Y 

W
IT

H
 IT

S 
IS

SU
E 

LI
C

EN
SE

D

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

 A
N

D
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
S.

 D
AT

E 
O

N
 0

4/
21

/2
02

5 
AN

D
 IT

 IS

N
O

T 
PR

O
JE

C
T 

SI
TE

 O
R

 A
T 

A 
LA

TE
R

 T
IM

E.
 U

SE
 O

N
 A

 S
PE

C
IF

IC

SI
TE

 A
T:

 R
EQ

U
IR

ES
 T

H
E 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 O

F 
PR

O
PE

R
LY

R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

 O
F 

TH
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

O
R

 R
EU

SE
 O

N
 A

N
O

TH
ER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
IS

 N
O

T 
EX

AM
PL

E 
O

N
 A

N
O

TH
ER

 P
R

O
JE

C
T.

ST
IP

U
LA

TI
O

N
 F

O
R

 R
EU

SE

DESIGNED BY:

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

SRF

GTG

JMC

DOCUMENT DATE: 04/21/2025

SHEET TITLE

G0.0

COVER SHEET

ENGINEER(S) OF RECORD
CONTRACTOR NOTE

ZONING INFORMATION

FLOOD HAZARD AREA NOTE

BENCHMARK & BASIS OF BEARING

APPLICABLE CODES

IONNA SITE NUMBER: CA-0042
INSTALLATION OF ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING INFRASTRUCTURE

CA-0042 WILLOWS, CA
246 N HUMBOLDT AVE

WILLOWS, CA 95988

PROPERTY SURVEY / EXISTING CONDITIONS, SEE SHEET C1.0 - ALTA SURVEY (BY OTHERS)

EV SITE ADDRESS:
246 N HUMBOLDT AVE
WILLOWS, CA 95988

PROPERTY OWNER:
KENNETH GOSLINER

DRAWING INDEX

COUNTY:
HUMBOLDT

LATITUDE (NAD83):
39.5241

LONGITUDE (NAD83):
-122.2119

PERMITTING JURISDICTION: COUNTY OF HUMBOLDT

ZONING CLASS: HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL

ALL WORK SHALL COMPLY WITH THE FOLLOWING APPLICABLE CODES:

· 2022 CALIFORNIA BUILDING CODE
· 2022 CALIFORNIA RESIDENTIAL CODE
· 2022 CALIFORNIA ELECTRICAL CODE
· 2022 CALIFORNIA MECHANICAL CODE
· 2022 CALIFORNIA PLUMBING CODE
· 2022 CALIFORNIA ENERGY CODE
· 2022 CALIFORNIA HISTORICAL BUILDING CODE
· 2022 CALIFORNIA EXISTING BUILDING CODE
· 2022 CALIFORNIA GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS CODE

NOTE:
IN THE EVENT OF CONFLICT, THE MOST RESTRICTIVE CODE SHALL PREVAIL.

BENCHMARK: 139.00' (NAVD 88)

NOT TO SCALE

· CONTRACTOR SHALL COMPLETE INSTALL PER THE SIGNED AND THE SEALED SET OF DRAWINGS. ANY NECESSARY
DEVIATIONS FROM THE DRAWINGS MUST BE SUBMITTED THROUGH AN RFI REQUEST PROCESS WITH
ENGINEERING FOR AN APPROVAL PRIOR TO CONTRACTOR PROCEEDING WITH A DEVIATION OF THE SIGNED AND
SEALED SET OF DRAWINGS.

· CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL PLANS, EXISTING DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS ON THE JOB SITE THEN
IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE ENGINEER IN WRITING OF ANY DISCREPANCIES BEFORE PROCEEDING WITH THE WORK.

ASSESSOR PARCEL NUMBER (APN):
001-041-013-000

CIVIL ENGINEER:
KIMLEY-HORN & ASSOCIATES, INC.
CONTACT: ANTHONY HOAC, P.E.
PHONE: (669) 800-4158
EMAIL: ANTHONY.HOAC@KIMLEY-HORN.COM

ELECTRICAL ENGINEER:
KIMLEY-HORN & ASSOCIATES, INC.
CONTACT: DUSTIN COLWELL, P.E.
PHONE: (720) 826-4372
EMAIL: DUSTIN.COLWELL@KIMLEY-HORN.COM

ENGINEER:
KIMLEY-HORN & ASSOCIATES, INC.
CONTACT: JESS CAIN
PHONE: (984) 358-6005
EMAIL: JESS.CAIN@KIMLEY-HORN.COM

SITE INFORMATION AERIAL MAP PROJECT DESCRIPTION

FOR REFERENCE ONLY DRAWINGS

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R CAUTION!!
CONTRACTOR IS TO VERIFY PRESENCE
AND EXACT LOCATION OF ALL UTILITIES

PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

BASIS OF BEARING:
THE VERTICAL DATUM FOR THIS PROJECT SHALL BE THE NORTH AMERICAN VERTICAL DATUM OF 1988 (NAVD-88) AND
THE HORIZONTAL DATUM SHALL BE THE CALIFORNIA STATE PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM (NAD-83) IN THE STATE
PLANE OF CA STATE PLANE, ZONE II, US FOOT.

NORTH

THE PROPERTY SHOWN HEREON IS LOCATED IN ZONE X, AN AREA DETERMINED TO BE 0.2% ANNUAL CHANCE FLOOD;
ZONE A, & ZONE AE, AN AREA DETERMINED TO BE 1% ANNUAL CHANCE FLOOD, AS GRAPHICALLY SHOWN ON FIRM
MAP COMMUNITY PANEL NUMBER 06021C0614D, EFFECTIVE DATE 08/05/2010.

THIS PLAN IS DEVELOPED WITH THE INTENT TO PROVIDE PUBLIC ELECTRIC VEHICLE (EV) CHARGING STATIONS AND
AN ELEVATED LIT CANOPY AT THIS LOCATION. THE EXTENT OF DESIGN WITHIN THIS CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENT
INCLUDES THE EV CHARGING STATIONS AND THEIR ACCOMPANYING CIVIL AND ELECTRICAL INFRASTRUCTURE.

· DEMOLITION OF EXISTING SURFACES FOR THE INSTALLATION OF EV CHARGERS AND LIT CANOPY.
· GRADING OF SURFACES ASSOCIATED WITH EVSE TO COMPLY WITH ADA REQUIREMENTS.
· INSTALL (1) UTILITY TRANSFORMER TO BE COORDINATED WITH PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY.
· INSTALL (1) SWITCHBOARD ASSEMBLY.
· INSTALL (5) 400KW ALPITRONIC HYC400 EV CHARGERS.
· INSTALL (2) EV SIGN POSTS.
· INSTALL (8) EV SIGN POSTS.

SITE

IMAGE REFERENCE
AERIAL IMAGERY PROVIDED BY
NEARMAP US, INC. ©2025 NEARMAP, HERE.

SURVEYOR:
WESTWOOD PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, INC.
CONTACT: JASON LEE PERKINS

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:
AGI
CONTACT: JED CAMPBELL, DIRECTOR
PHONE: (865) 805-7442
EMAIL: JCAMPBELL@AGI.NET

POWER COMPANY:
PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY

· 2021 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE
· 1997 UNIFORM HOUSING CODE
· 1997 UNIFORM SIGN CODE
· 2022 CALIFORNIA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE

Attachment 3



RIM ELEV=136.61'
E, 1', -FL=135.16'

CCS  1BCCS  1A NACS 2A

NACS 2B NACS 3A NACS 3B CCS  4A CCS  4B CCS  5A CCS  5B

EV CHARGING
ONLY

EV CHARGING
ONLY

EV CHARGING
ONLY

NO
PARKING

NO
PARKING

N
 H

U
M

B
O

LD
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

CONSTRUCTION NOTES

PAVEMENT MARKING NOTES

DESCRIPTIONITEM

CIVIL SITE PLAN LEGEND

Z Z

D D

S S

PARKING STRIPING (SEE PLANS FOR REVISED PARKING LAYOUT)

STRIPED ISLAND

LANDSCAPE AREA

1. SEE PAVING AND ADDITIONAL CONSTRUCTION NOTES ON SHEET GN-01.
2. CONTRACTOR TO BORE AND / OR HAND-TRENCH CONDUIT AS REQUIRED PER NEC.
3. ALL EQUIPMENT SHALL BE INSTALLED PER CLIENT DESIGN STANDARDS.
4. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO THE FACE OF CURB UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.
5. ALL PARKING LOT CURB RADII ARE 3' OR 10' UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.
6. ALL AUTOMOBILE PARKING SPACES ARE 10' WIDE X 20' LONG. ACCESSIBLE SPACES ARE

11' WIDE X 20' LONG AND 12' WIDE X 20' LONG FOR STANDARD AND VAN, RESPECTIVELY.
7. REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL PLAN FOR DIMENSIONS OF BUILDINGS.
8. EXTERIOR ACCESSIBLE ROUTES SHALL HAVE A MAXIMUM RUNNING SLOPE OF 1:20,

MAXIMUM CROSS SLOPE OF 1:48, AND MINIMUM WIDTH OF 48 INCHES.

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL TAKE FIELD MEASUREMENTS OR OTHERWISE ESTABLISH A
SURVEY OF THE EXISTING STRIPING IN ALL WORK AREAS IN ORDER TO ESTABLISH ALL
EXISTING PAVEMENT MARKINGS WITH FULL COORDINATION OF NEW MARKINGS
PROPOSED ON THIS PLAN.

2. UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED ON THIS PLAN, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ESTABLISH
PAVEMENT MARKINGS FOR ALL FIRE LANES, DIRECTIONAL ARROWS, STOP BARS,
CURBS, SIDEWALK, LIGHT POLE BASES, SIGN BASES AND PARKING STALLS TO MATCH
THE EXISTING SITE WITHIN THE REPAIR LIMITS.

3. CONTRACTOR TO USE APPROPRIATE PAINT COLORS TO MATCH THE EXISTING
FEATURES. ADA BARRIER FREE AREAS TO COMPLY WITH ALL LOCAL AND FEDERAL ADA
STANDARDS. PAVEMENT MARKINGS SHALL BE A HIGH QUALITY PAINT RECOMMENDED

PROPOSED TREE

SIGN POST

FENCE

PROPERTY LINE

CENTER LINE

EASEMENT LINE

BIORETENTION AREA

APPROXIMATE CIVIL LIMIT OF WORK

CONCRETE PAD

ASPHALT PAVEMENT

STORM DRAIN INLET, MANHOLE, CLEAN OUT

ACCESSIBLE ROUTE (REFER TO GRADING NOTES)
[SHOWN FOR REFERENCE ONLY, DO NOT PAINT]

CONCRETE WALK

FIRE HYDRANT, POST INDICATOR VALVE, FDC

WATER METER AND BACKFLOW PREVENTER

SEWER MANHOLE, CLEAN OUT, AREA DRAIN

PAVEMENT SAWCUT AND JOIN LINE

GRAVEL

LIGHT POLE PER SHEET E2.0

SHEET NUMBER

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9N
o.

BY
D

AT
E

IS
SU

E 
BL

O
C

K

10

PRELIMINARY
PLANS
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

DRAFT

42
1 

FA
YE

TT
EV

IL
LE

 S
T,

 S
U

IT
E 

60
0,

R
AL

EI
G

H
, N

C
 2

76
01

M
ai

n:
 (9

19
) 6

77
-2

00
0 

 | 
 w

w
w

.k
im

le
y-

ho
rn

.c
om

©
20

25
  K

im
le

y-
H

or
n 

an
d 

As
so

ci
at

es
, I

nc
.

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, as an instrument of service, is intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared. Reuse of and improper reliance on this document without written authorization and adaptation by Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. shall be without liability to Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
This PDF was plotted by ---- on Friday, May 30, 2025  5:26:44 PM at the file path: K:\RAL_LDEV\000000000_Ionna EV\CA-0042_246 N Humboldt Ave, Willows, CA\07_CAD Files\PlanSheets

DOCUMENTS WITHOUT SIGNATURE
AND REQUIRED SEAL OF AOR / EOR

ARE NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

PUBLIC EV KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 P
R

O
JE

C
T 

N
O

.:
01

68
95

05
6

EV
 S

TA
LL

S:
10

24
6 

N
 H

U
M

BO
LD

T 
AV

E

W
IL

LO
W

S,
 C

A 
95

98
8

ST
O

R
E 

N
O

.: 
C

A-
00

42
 W

IL
LO

W
S,

 C
A

CONSULTANTS

W
IL

LO
W

S,
 C

A 
95

98
8 

AU
TH

O
R

IZ
ED

 A
N

D
 M

AY
 B

E 
C

O
N

TR
AR

Y 
TO

TH
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 W

AS
 P

R
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R
 T

H
E 

LA
W

. S
U

IT
AB

LE
 F

O
R

U
SE

 O
N

 A
 D

IF
FE

R
EN

T 
O

F 
TH

IS
 D

R
AW

IN
G

 F
O

R
 R

EF
ER

EN
C

E 
O

R

C
O

N
TE

M
PO

R
AN

EO
U

SL
Y 

W
IT

H
 IT

S 
IS

SU
E 

LI
C

EN
SE

D

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

 A
N

D
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
S.

 D
AT

E 
O

N
 0

4/
21

/2
02

5 
AN

D
 IT

 IS

N
O

T 
PR

O
JE

C
T 

SI
TE

 O
R

 A
T 

A 
LA

TE
R

 T
IM

E.
 U

SE
 O

N
 A

 S
PE

C
IF

IC

SI
TE

 A
T:

 R
EQ

U
IR

ES
 T

H
E 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 O

F 
PR

O
PE

R
LY

R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

 O
F 

TH
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

O
R

 R
EU

SE
 O

N
 A

N
O

TH
ER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
IS

 N
O

T 
EX

AM
PL

E 
O

N
 A

N
O

TH
ER

 P
R

O
JE

C
T.

ST
IP

U
LA

TI
O

N
 F

O
R

 R
EU

SE

DESIGNED BY:

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

SRF

GTG

JMC

DOCUMENT DATE: 04/21/2025

SHEET TITLE

NORTH

C2.0

SITE PLAN

0
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

WHEN PRINTED AT FULL SIZE
(30"x42")

105 10 20

SCALE: 1" = 10'



CCS  1BCCS  1A NACS 2A

NACS 2B NACS 3A NACS 3B CCS  4A CCS  4B CCS  5A CCS  5B

EV CHARGING
ONLY

EV CHARGING
ONLY

EV CHARGING
ONLY

NO
PARKING

NO
PARKING

EXISTING SIGN
POLE TO BE KEPT

THIS CHARGER AND CONCRETE PAD
TO BE MOUNTED FLUSH WITH GRADE

THIS CHARGER AND CONCRETE PAD
TO BE MOUNTED FLUSH WITH GRADE

PROPOSED EV ACCESSIBLE
PARKING SIGN (TYP.-2)

PROPOSED LEVEL 3 DUAL PORT
CHARGER ON CONCRETE PAD (TYP.-5)

PROPOSED EV PARKING
SIGN (TYP.-8)

PROPOSED CANOPY
FOUNDATION (TYP.-6)

PROPOSED
TRANSFORMER
ON CONCRETE

PAD

PROPOSED EMBEDDED
BOLLARD (TYP.-15)

PROPOSED
CONCRETE CURB

PROPOSED
SWITCHGEAR ON

CONCRETE PAD

5'-0" 12'-0" 5'-0" 10'-0" 5'-0" 12'-0" 5'-0" 10'-0" 60'-0"

20'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0"20'-0"32'-0"

2

C6.2
2

C2.2

11

C6.1

2

C2.2

10

C6.1

2

C6.0

3

C6.0

4

C6.0

4

C6.0

8

C6.0

4

C6.0

18
'-0

"

CONSTRUCTION NOTES

PAVEMENT MARKING NOTES

DESCRIPTIONITEM

CIVIL SITE PLAN LEGEND

Z Z

D D

S S

PARKING STRIPING (SEE PLANS FOR REVISED PARKING LAYOUT)

STRIPED ISLAND

LANDSCAPE AREA

1. SEE PAVING AND ADDITIONAL CONSTRUCTION NOTES ON SHEET GN-01.
2. CONTRACTOR TO BORE AND / OR HAND-TRENCH CONDUIT AS REQUIRED PER NEC.
3. ALL EQUIPMENT SHALL BE INSTALLED PER CLIENT DESIGN STANDARDS.
4. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO THE FACE OF CURB UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.
5. ALL PARKING LOT CURB RADII ARE 3' OR 10' UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.
6. ALL AUTOMOBILE PARKING SPACES ARE 10' WIDE X 20' LONG. ACCESSIBLE SPACES ARE

11' WIDE X 20' LONG AND 12' WIDE X 20' LONG FOR STANDARD AND VAN, RESPECTIVELY.
7. REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL PLAN FOR DIMENSIONS OF BUILDINGS.
8. EXTERIOR ACCESSIBLE ROUTES SHALL HAVE A MAXIMUM RUNNING SLOPE OF 1:20,

MAXIMUM CROSS SLOPE OF 1:48, AND MINIMUM WIDTH OF 48 INCHES.

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL TAKE FIELD MEASUREMENTS OR OTHERWISE ESTABLISH A
SURVEY OF THE EXISTING STRIPING IN ALL WORK AREAS IN ORDER TO ESTABLISH ALL
EXISTING PAVEMENT MARKINGS WITH FULL COORDINATION OF NEW MARKINGS
PROPOSED ON THIS PLAN.

2. UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED ON THIS PLAN, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ESTABLISH
PAVEMENT MARKINGS FOR ALL FIRE LANES, DIRECTIONAL ARROWS, STOP BARS,
CURBS, SIDEWALK, LIGHT POLE BASES, SIGN BASES AND PARKING STALLS TO MATCH
THE EXISTING SITE WITHIN THE REPAIR LIMITS.

3. CONTRACTOR TO USE APPROPRIATE PAINT COLORS TO MATCH THE EXISTING
FEATURES. ADA BARRIER FREE AREAS TO COMPLY WITH ALL LOCAL AND FEDERAL ADA
STANDARDS. PAVEMENT MARKINGS SHALL BE A HIGH QUALITY PAINT RECOMMENDED

PROPOSED TREE

SIGN POST

FENCE

PROPERTY LINE

CENTER LINE

EASEMENT LINE

BIORETENTION AREA

APPROXIMATE CIVIL LIMIT OF WORK

CONCRETE PAD

ASPHALT PAVEMENT

STORM DRAIN INLET, MANHOLE, CLEAN OUT

ACCESSIBLE ROUTE (REFER TO GRADING NOTES)
[SHOWN FOR REFERENCE ONLY, DO NOT PAINT]

CONCRETE WALK

FIRE HYDRANT, POST INDICATOR VALVE, FDC

WATER METER AND BACKFLOW PREVENTER

SEWER MANHOLE, CLEAN OUT, AREA DRAIN

PAVEMENT SAWCUT AND JOIN LINE

GRAVEL

LIGHT POLE PER SHEET E2.0

SHEET NUMBER

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9N
o.

BY
D

AT
E

IS
SU

E 
BL

O
C

K

10

PRELIMINARY
PLANS
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

DRAFT

42
1 

FA
YE

TT
EV

IL
LE

 S
T,

 S
U

IT
E 

60
0,

R
AL

EI
G

H
, N

C
 2

76
01

M
ai

n:
 (9

19
) 6

77
-2

00
0 

 | 
 w

w
w

.k
im

le
y-

ho
rn

.c
om

©
20

25
  K

im
le

y-
H

or
n 

an
d 

As
so

ci
at

es
, I

nc
.

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, as an instrument of service, is intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared. Reuse of and improper reliance on this document without written authorization and adaptation by Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. shall be without liability to Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
This PDF was plotted by ---- on Friday, May 30, 2025  5:26:49 PM at the file path: K:\RAL_LDEV\000000000_Ionna EV\CA-0042_246 N Humboldt Ave, Willows, CA\07_CAD Files\PlanSheets

DOCUMENTS WITHOUT SIGNATURE
AND REQUIRED SEAL OF AOR / EOR

ARE NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

PUBLIC EV KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 P
R

O
JE

C
T 

N
O

.:
01

68
95

05
6

EV
 S

TA
LL

S:
10

24
6 

N
 H

U
M

BO
LD

T 
AV

E

W
IL

LO
W

S,
 C

A 
95

98
8

ST
O

R
E 

N
O

.: 
C

A-
00

42
 W

IL
LO

W
S,

 C
A

CONSULTANTS

W
IL

LO
W

S,
 C

A 
95

98
8 

AU
TH

O
R

IZ
ED

 A
N

D
 M

AY
 B

E 
C

O
N

TR
AR

Y 
TO

TH
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 W

AS
 P

R
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R
 T

H
E 

LA
W

. S
U

IT
AB

LE
 F

O
R

U
SE

 O
N

 A
 D

IF
FE

R
EN

T 
O

F 
TH

IS
 D

R
AW

IN
G

 F
O

R
 R

EF
ER

EN
C

E 
O

R

C
O

N
TE

M
PO

R
AN

EO
U

SL
Y 

W
IT

H
 IT

S 
IS

SU
E 

LI
C

EN
SE

D

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

 A
N

D
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
S.

 D
AT

E 
O

N
 0

4/
21

/2
02

5 
AN

D
 IT

 IS

N
O

T 
PR

O
JE

C
T 

SI
TE

 O
R

 A
T 

A 
LA

TE
R

 T
IM

E.
 U

SE
 O

N
 A

 S
PE

C
IF

IC

SI
TE

 A
T:

 R
EQ

U
IR

ES
 T

H
E 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 O

F 
PR

O
PE

R
LY

R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

 O
F 

TH
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

O
R

 R
EU

SE
 O

N
 A

N
O

TH
ER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
IS

 N
O

T 
EX

AM
PL

E 
O

N
 A

N
O

TH
ER

 P
R

O
JE

C
T.

ST
IP

U
LA

TI
O

N
 F

O
R

 R
EU

SE

DESIGNED BY:

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

SRF

GTG

JMC

DOCUMENT DATE: 04/21/2025

SHEET TITLE

NORTH

C2.1

ENLARGED SITE PLAN

0
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

WHEN PRINTED AT FULL SIZE
(30"x42")

52.5 5 10

SCALE: 1" = 5'

CHARGER STALL TABLE
STALL NO. CONNECTOR TYPE SIGNAGE

1A CCS ADA - USE LAST

1B CCS iONNA EV CHARGING ONLY

2A NACS ADA - USE LAST

2B NACS iONNA EV CHARGING ONLY

3A NACS iONNA EV CHARGING ONLY

3B NACS iONNA EV CHARGING ONLY

4A CCS iONNA EV CHARGING ONLY

4B CCS iONNA EV CHARGING ONLY

5A CCS iONNA EV CHARGING ONLY

5B CCS iONNA EV CHARGING ONLY



LARGE PYLON SIGN
"CHEVRON"

LARGE PYLON SIGN
"BLACK BEAR DINER"

"BLACK BEAR DINER
PARKING ONLY"

PARKING STRIPE
(TYP.)

GAS PUMP EQUIPMENT
ENCLOSURE

"HANDICAPPED
ACCESS"

DROP INLET

PARKING
STRIPE

CCS  1BCCS  1A NACS 2A

NACS 2B NACS 3A NACS 3B CCS  4A CCS  4B CCS  5A CCS  5B

EV CHARGING
ONLY

EV CHARGING
ONLY

EV CHARGING
ONLY

NO
PARKING

NO
PARKING

SHEET NUMBER

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9N
o.

BY
D

AT
E

IS
SU

E 
BL

O
C

K

10

PRELIMINARY
PLANS
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

DRAFT

42
1 

FA
YE

TT
EV

IL
LE

 S
T,

 S
U

IT
E 

60
0,

R
AL

EI
G

H
, N

C
 2

76
01

M
ai

n:
 (9

19
) 6

77
-2

00
0 

 | 
 w

w
w

.k
im

le
y-

ho
rn

.c
om

©
20

25
  K

im
le

y-
H

or
n 

an
d 

As
so

ci
at

es
, I

nc
.

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, as an instrument of service, is intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared. Reuse of and improper reliance on this document without written authorization and adaptation by Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. shall be without liability to Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
This PDF was plotted by ---- on Friday, May 30, 2025  5:27:08 PM at the file path: K:\RAL_LDEV\000000000_Ionna EV\CA-0042_246 N Humboldt Ave, Willows, CA\07_CAD Files\PlanSheets

DOCUMENTS WITHOUT SIGNATURE
AND REQUIRED SEAL OF AOR / EOR

ARE NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

PUBLIC EV KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 P
R

O
JE

C
T 

N
O

.:
01

68
95

05
6

EV
 S

TA
LL

S:
10

24
6 

N
 H

U
M

BO
LD

T 
AV

E

W
IL

LO
W

S,
 C

A 
95

98
8

ST
O

R
E 

N
O

.: 
C

A-
00

42
 W

IL
LO

W
S,

 C
A

CONSULTANTS

W
IL

LO
W

S,
 C

A 
95

98
8 

AU
TH

O
R

IZ
ED

 A
N

D
 M

AY
 B

E 
C

O
N

TR
AR

Y 
TO

TH
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 W

AS
 P

R
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R
 T

H
E 

LA
W

. S
U

IT
AB

LE
 F

O
R

U
SE

 O
N

 A
 D

IF
FE

R
EN

T 
O

F 
TH

IS
 D

R
AW

IN
G

 F
O

R
 R

EF
ER

EN
C

E 
O

R

C
O

N
TE

M
PO

R
AN

EO
U

SL
Y 

W
IT

H
 IT

S 
IS

SU
E 

LI
C

EN
SE

D

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

 A
N

D
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
S.

 D
AT

E 
O

N
 0

4/
21

/2
02

5 
AN

D
 IT

 IS

N
O

T 
PR

O
JE

C
T 

SI
TE

 O
R

 A
T 

A 
LA

TE
R

 T
IM

E.
 U

SE
 O

N
 A

 S
PE

C
IF

IC

SI
TE

 A
T:

 R
EQ

U
IR

ES
 T

H
E 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 O

F 
PR

O
PE

R
LY

R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

 O
F 

TH
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 F

O
R

 R
EU

SE
 O

N
 A

N
O

TH
ER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
IS

 N
O

T 
EX

AM
PL

E 
O

N
 A

N
O

TH
ER

 P
R

O
JE

C
T.

ST
IP

U
LA

TI
O

N
 F

O
R

 R
EU

SE

DESIGNED BY:

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

SRF

GTG

JMC

DOCUMENT DATE: 04/21/2025

SHEET TITLE

NORTH

C2.3

FINISH PLAN

SCALE: 1" = 5'

FINISHES
ID NAME MFG MODEL COLOR NOTE

ACM1 CLADDING - ION ORANGE ALPOLIC 3MM PANEL WAO ORANGE

ACM2 CLADDING - SOFT DARK ALPOLIC 3MM PANEL AUB BLUE

EP-2 PAINT - SOFT DARK SHERWIN WILLIAMS SEE PROD TABLE SW 7605 GALE FORCE CLOSEST MATCH TO PMS 5395 C

EP-3 PAINT - SOFT LIGHT SHERWIN WILLIAMS SEE PROD TABLE SW 7563 RESTFUL WHITE CLOSEST MATCH TO PMS 9224C

EP-6 PAINT - BLACK SHERWIN WILLIAMS SEE PROD TABLE SW 6258 TRICORN BLACK

PP-1 TRAFFIC PAINT - WHITE SHERWIN WILLIAMS SEE PROD TABLE SW-B97WD2434

PP-4 TRAFFIC PAINT - SOFT DARK SHERWIN WILLIAMS SEE PROD TABLE MATCH SW 7605 GALE FORCE PER CUSTOM SW SPEC. COLOR TO BE
COORDINATED WITH THE CHARGER TYPE

PP-5 TRAFFIC PAINT - ION ORANGE SHERWIN WILLIAMS SEE PROD TABLE MATCH SW6886 INVIGORATE PER CUSTOM SW SPEC. COLOR TO BE
COORDINATED WITH THE CHARGER TYPE

0
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

WHEN PRINTED AT FULL SIZE
(30"x42")

2.5 5 10



QTY (2) KT-CLEDXXPS-S2-OSH-8CSB-VDIM-W 
FIXTURES BY AGI

AGI TO PROVIDE CABINET AND CLASS ABC FIRE 
EXTINGUISHER 5LB, 2A:10B:C. QUANTITY AND 
MOUNTING TO BE SPECIFIED BY SITE ENGINEER

CAISSON FOOTING - FINAL DIMENSIONS/REQUIRED 
REINFORCEMENT VARY BY SITE

HSS 4" x 4" x 3/16" SUPPORT

W18x60 STEEL COLUMN

W6x20 STEEL PURLINS 44" O.C.

W6x25 STEEL CANOPY BEAMS

44"

44"

44"

184"

24" 24" 136"

14
3"

6"6"
15

4"

5711
16"

5711
16"

5711
16"

14
1 8"

iONNA Pull-In Canopy Design Guide 1/20/25

1/20/25

218 River Drive
Cartersville, GA 30120

800-877-7868
www.AGI.net

Architectural Branding - Atlanta

T:
\C

om
pa

ny
 S

ha
re

d 
Fo

ld
er

s\
D

ES
IG

N
\In

de
x 

w
ith

 T
ex

t C
ha

ng
es

\1
1X

17
 ti

tle
bl

oc
k.

3d
m

   
 p

ag
e 

1 
of

 1
   

  p
rin

te
d 

1/
20

/2
02

5 
1:

44
   

  l
as

t s
av

ed
 6

/2
/2

01
7 

8:
17

This document is the sole property of AGI, and
all design, manufacturing, reproduction, use and
sale rights regarding the same are expressly
forbidden.  It is submitted under a confidential
relationship, for a special purpose, and the
recipient, by accepting this document assumes
custody and agrees that this document will not
be copied or reproduced in whole or in part, nor
its contents revealed in any manner or to any
person except for the purpose for which it was
tendered, nor any special features peculiar to this
design be incorporated in other projects.

DATE

PROJECT

Approved By

Date Approved

DATE COMMENTSREV #

ARCHITECT

DRAWN BY

JOB #
SHEET NUMBER

SHEET  NUMBER

- 5

4

2

3

FIRST SUBMITTAL DRAWINGS

1
ADDRESS

SDD

--

01
2 of 10

1" = 10"
Pull-In Canopy Typical Section

01
1



STANDARD SITE - RENDER

Attachment 4



PHOTO REPRODUCTION OF THE COLOR & MATERIALS BOARD

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION CAN BE PROVIDED UPON REQUEST, BUT IONNA’S
GENERAL BRAND COLORS ARE AS FOLLOWS:

Attachment 5



Attachment 6 

Design Review Analysis 

Design Review (DR-25-04)  

246 N Humboldt Street / APN: 001-041-024 

I. Introduction
This Design Review Analysis (Analysis) evaluates the proposed design of an Electric Vehicle (EV) charging 
station to be located at 246 N Humbolt Avenue, identified by Assessor Parcel Numbers (APNs): 001-041-
024. The Analysis focuses on the project’s compliance with design review criteria, including design, site
relationship, neighborhood compatibility, material selection, site improvements, and operational
considerations.

II. Design Review Analysis
Competent Design 
The proposed building has been designed by professional architects/engineers licensed within the State 
of California to meet the building code standards of development. The project would include a 13-foot 
steel beam canopy and electrical equipment, including a new transformer. 

Relationship Between Structures Within the Development and Between Structures and Site 
The new charging area would be located in the existing parking area for the restaurant located on the 
same site. This area is adjacent to an existing gas station. 

WMC Section 18.141.060(3) states that “The design shall show that due regard has been given to 
orientation of structures to streets, climatic considerations, and especially, the creation and utilization of 
open space.” By placing the charging area along the property line, allows for the existing parking area to 
remain unchanged with very little disturbance to the flow of the parking area. 

Relationship between Development and Neighborhood 
The proposed electric vehicle charging station would not be out of character with the surrounding 
neighborhood, as a gas station is located directly adjacent to the project site and another is situated across 
the street. The introduction of a new automobile service use would therefore be compatible with the 
existing automobile-related businesses in the area. 

Surrounding properties to the north, west, and south, are similar zoned as Highway Commercial as the 
site. The surrounding visual characteristics consists of the following: 

• North: Chevron gas stion and Extra Mile convenience store. The Chevron canopy is painted white
and blue. The Extra Mile convenience store is painted white, grey and brown with red signage.

• West: Undeveloped and to the north west is a Diamond gas station and convenience store. The
Diamond canopy is painted white, blue and red. The convenience store is painted a light orange.

• South: On the same project site, but directly south of the project development area, is Black Bear
Diner. The building has a green metal roof and a light orange, brown color building.

• East: Undeveloped



Materials and Colors Used 
The new charging station equipment will be finished in a “Robin’s Egg” color. The canopy would be painted 
“Soft Dark” black along the steel beams. The underside of the canopy would be painted an “Ion Charge” 
orange color. While the orange is an introduction of a new color not typically found in this area, the orange 
will be located on the underside of the canopy. Primarily visible to customers under the canopy. From the 
street and adjacent properties, the “Soft Dark” steel beams will be visible. 

Wall and Fencing 
Currently, a drive aisle connects the project site to the adjacent property to the north. With the installation 
of the canopy and charging station equipment, this connection will be blocked, and the drive aisle will no 
longer be accessible. However, both properties maintain at least two (2) access points to N. Humboldt 
Avenue. Therefore, the closure of this drive aisle will not restrict access to either property. 

Surface Water Drainage 
The proposed project would utilize an existing parking area. Upon construction, all surface /on-site water 
will be required to drain properly. WMC Section 18.141.030 states that “Stormwaters shall be removed 
and carried away in an adequate drainage system”. Surface water and all paved areas shall be collected 
at intervals so that it will not obstruct the flow of vehicles or pedestrian traffic and will not create puddles 
on the paved areas. 

Drives, Parking and Circulation 
The project site has two access points along N. Humboldt Avenue. Primary access to the proposed EV 
charging area will be provided through an encroachment south of the EV charging area. The project will 
add additional parking spaces in an area currently used as a drive aisle that connects the site to the 
adjacent parcel to the north. The proposed improvements are consistent with the existing site layout, as 
all equipment will be located along the northern property line. The project will not impede the circulation 
or functionality of the existing parking lot. 

Utility Service 
All new utilities shall be placed underground as conditioned by the Engineering Department. Please see 
Attachment 2 of the Staff Report. 

Signs 
The project would have one sign located on top of the canopy reading the name of the charging station 
“IONNA”. 

Exterior Lighting 
Flush-mounted lighting will be installed on the underside of the canopy in two rows. In accordance with 
WMC Section 18.141.060(10), which states that “light sources shall not create a glare or hazard on 
adjoining streets or be annoying to adjacent properties or residential areas,” the use of flush-mounted 
fixtures will help minimize glare and potential hazards. Additionally, as a condition of approval, a 
photometric plan will be required for review to ensure the lighting does not produce excessive glare or 
spill onto adjacent properties. 



Landscaping 
A significant amount of landscaping is existing in this area. Most of the landscaping will remain with the 
exception of the landscaping in the north western corner where some landscaping will be removed for 
construction of the transformer. 

III. Conclusion
Per Section 18.141.070(1), an application for design review may be approved, approved with 
modifications, conditionally approved, or disapproved.  



Jess.Cain
Text Box
iONNA EV Charging Project - Willows, CA







DISCUSSION & ACTION 
CALENDAR 



Agenda Item #7a 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Date:   July 1, 2025 

To:   Planning Commission 

From:   Karleen Price, City Clerk 

Subject: Election of Chair and Vice Chair 

Recommendation: 

Accept nominations and elect a Chair and Vice Chair to preside over the Planning Commission for 
the 2025 calendar year. 

Rationale for Recommendation: 

The Chair presides over Planning Commission meetings, ensuring that rules and regulations are 
followed. The Vice Chair serves as a backup, ensuring the commission functions efficiently in the 
Chair’s absence. 

Background: 

Per Willows Municipal Code 2.35.020, elections are to be held on the first Planning Commission 
meeting after January 1st to nominate and elect a Chair and Vice Chair to serve a one-year term. 

The election occurred at the March 4, 2025 meeting. However, On May 20, 2025, Planning 
Commissioner Chair Pedro Bobadilla resigned from the Planning Commission leaving a vacancy 
on the five-member Commission. Staff immediately started recruiting for a new Planning 
Commissioner, two applications were received, and interviews with the Council appointed Ad 
Hoc Committee were scheduled. 

On June 18, 2025, Mayor Hutson and Councilmember Pride interviewed two Planning 
Commission applicants. While both applicants are qualified for the appointment, the Ad Hoc 
Committee selected Robyn Nygard to recommend for approval by the full Council, because of 
her long-standing experience in the community.  On June 24, 2025. The Council approved the 
recommendation to appoint Robyn Nygard to the Planning Commission, and she will be sworn 
in prior to the July 1, 2025 Meeting.  

The Commission is now at full membership and can proceed with the election of new officers. 

Discussion & Analysis: 



Per standard practice and in accordance with Willows Municipal Code 2.35.020, the 
Commission is required to elect officers annually at the first meeting of the calendar year. Due 
to the unexpected resignation of the Chair and the subsequent delay in restoring full 
membership, the Commission must now hold a special election to designate a new Chair and 
Vice Chair to serve for the remainder of the 2025 calendar year. 

This action will help restore leadership structure, ensure meetings are properly facilitated, and 
maintain compliance with municipal governance procedures. The elected Chair will assume 
primary responsibilities for presiding over meetings, maintaining order, and guiding discussion 
in accordance with parliamentary procedure. The Vice Chair will act in the absence of the Chair 
and support the role as needed. 

Fiscal Impact:  

There is no fiscal impact. 



COMMENTS AND 
REPORTS 

103


	7-01-2025 PC Agenda Face.pdf
	Public Comment and Consent Calendar Forum
	06-03-2025 Draft Meeting Minutes
	Public Hearing
	CUP 25-01 Staff Report_06242025 
	Attachment 1_Resolution _CUP25-01
	Attachment 2 _COAs_CUP25-01
	Attachment 3 Phase 2 Application For Planners F
	3627_001
	Cali Love Willows LLC Phase 2 Application

	CUP 25-02 Staff Report_06262025
	Attachment 1_Resolution _CUP25-02 Revised
	Attachment 2 _COAs_CUP25-02
	Attachment 3 Phase 1 approval
	Attachment 4 Phase 2 Application Package
	3628_001
	3629_001
	3630_001
	3632_001
	3634_001
	3635_001
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	0_Staff Report_246 N Humboldt
	1_Resolution _246 N Humboldt
	2 _COAs_246 N Humboldt
	3_Project Plans_246 N Humboldt
	Sheets and Views
	G0.0 COVER SHEET
	C2.0 SITE PLAN
	C2.1 ENLARGED SITE PLAN
	C2.3 FINISH PLAN


	4_Project Renderings_246 N Humboldt
	5_Color Board_246 N Humboldt
	6_Design Review Analysis_246 N Humbolt
	I. Introduction
	II. Design Review Analysis
	III. Conclusion

	6_Sites Photos_246 N Humboldt
	Discussion and Action
	Staff Report - Election of Chair and Vice Chair
	Comments and Reports



